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1                BE IT REMEMBERED that on Monday, August 25, 2014, 
2      at 9:08 a.m. at 14675 Interurban Avenue South, Tukwila, 
3      Washington, before REBECCA S. LINDAUER, Certified Court 
4      Reporter, in and for the State of Washington, the following 
5      proceedings were had, to wit:
6      
7                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record at nine -- not 
8      quite 9:10 in the morning on the 25th of August.  
9           Assembled as previously after the weekend, renewed, 

10      refreshed, ready to go again and continuing the Union's 
11      principal case with a new witness.  
12           And I need to get you to stand up for me for a second.
13      
14 MARK ENDRESEN,              having been first duly sworn,
15                             testified as follows:  
16           
17                ARBITRATOR:  Spell your name for us, please.
18                THE WITNESS:  Mark, M-a-r-k, Endresen, 
19      E-n-d-r-e-s-e-n.
20                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.  Spencer.
21                         DIRECT EXAMINATION
22 BY MR. THAL: 
23 Q    Mr. Endresen, are you currently employed?  
24 A    No.
25 Q    Well, isn't that nice for you?  
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1 A    Yes.
2 Q    So what did you used to do when you were --  
3 A    I was the -- for 20 years I was the economics advisor for 
4      the Joint Council of Teamsters, Joint Council 28.  For about 
5      ten years, I was the economic advisor and the pension 
6      representative for the Western Conference of Teamsters.
7 Q    And just in a general scope, to give the arbitrator a sense 
8      of the kind of work that you did in those roles, can you 
9      just describe what, in general, those responsibilities 

10      involved?
11 A    Yeah.  It generally broke out into a few areas.  As far as 
12      negotiations, I would help local unions do contract 
13      comparisons so that, if you worked for Safeway in the Bay 
14      Area and you had contract negotiations up here -- up here 
15      with Safeway, then we would do 13 western-states-wide 
16      comparisons of contracts with similar employers or 
17      industries.  
18           If you were dealing with sand and gravel, then I would 
19      survey all the sand and gravel outfits and we would have 
20      some -- the idea was to have some equality of compensation 
21      within industries and within employers.  
22           And then another major area starting actually in the 
23      1980's, which a little while ago, during the 1980's we had 
24      that huge economic downturn then, and I got a lot into 
25      requests for relief from employers.  So I would look at a 
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1      number, hundreds and hundreds, of companies that would come 

2      forward and ask for economic relief under their agreement in 

3      one form or another.

4 Q    What about with respect to the public sector?  Did you do 

5      any work with respect to public sector collective 

6      bargaining?

7 A    Yes.  One, put together the proposals that -- getting at 

8      what is comparable between jurisdictions for certain 

9      classifications.  And then participated in a number of 

10      interest arbitrations.  

11           In particular, at the time, the Teamsters represented a 

12      lot of law enforcement and so we had -- and that was the 

13      principal interest arbitration that was called for, for a 

14      while.  I worked both at putting together information for 

15      hearings and also then testifying at hearings such as this.

16 Q    In the course of your work, did you have occasion to review 

17      municipal budgets?

18 A    Yes.

19 Q    Or state government budgets?

20 A    More municipal.  You know, the larger the jurisdiction, as 

21      you go from towns to cities to counties to -- and larger 

22      counties to state, they get increasingly complex.  And so 

23      when you have a jurisdiction like a midsized Washington 

24      State county or city, then those are fairly straightforward 

25      in terms of in seeing where the money is and where it isn't.  
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1           As you get up into large counties -- King, Pierce, 
2      Snohomish and so forth -- then it's the State of Washington, 
3      it gets much more complicated.  But -- so I have done the 
4      bigger jurisdictions and appreciate how involved that view 
5      gets.
6 Q    Very good.  So what I would like to do is to start with an 

7      exercise in the employer's notebook to try to get a sense of 

8      the Union's proposal in this case as percentage of the 

9      Department's budget.  What I would like to start with is, if 

10      we could, Exhibit 3-10 in the employer's notebook.  

11 A    Okay.
12 Q    So the purpose of using this document is just to get an 

13      overall sense of the annual Department budget.  Looking at 

14      this document, can you give us a sense of the approximate 

15      annual budget for fiscal year 2015 for the Department of 

16      Corrections?

17 A    Yeah.  Generally, combining the two figures of other agency 
18      functions and prisons and so forth, it's about $850 million 
19      for a fiscal year.
20 Q    And then obviously, to get a biennial number, I would 

21      simply -- 

22 A    Just double that.
23 Q    And so -- 

24 A    About $1.7 billion is a general number for the budget.
25 Q    Very good.  Now, what I would like to do is take a look at 
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1      the employer's costing analysis of the Union's proposal.  
2                MR. THAL:  Do you know where that went, Otto?  
3                MR. KLEIN:  I think it's 4-5.
4                MR. THAL:  No.  That's the summary.  Let's start 
5      with 4-4, the back of 4-4.  
6 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  It's the next one over, I think.  I'm looking 
7      at -- this is the employer's proposal.  So let's turn to the 
8      second page here.  We have the projected costing of the 
9      Union's proposal on the backside of Exhibit 4-4.  Let's let 

10      the arbitrator get there.  Hang on a second.  
11 A    Right.
12 Q    So the number you see down there at the bottom, what is that 
13      number, the bottom right?
14 A    The bottom right, the total?  Total, total?  
15 Q    Yeah. 
16 A    $123,915,839.
17 Q    And that represents a biennial figure?
18 A    Yes.
19 Q    So if I were to -- how would I understand that proposal as a 
20      percentage of the total agency biennial budget?
21 A    So you divide that by $1.7 billion.
22 Q    Have you done that exercise?
23 A    Yes.
24 Q    What does that come out to, approximately?
25 A    About 7.2 percent.
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1 Q    I'm done with this exhibit notebook, and I'm now going to be 
2      working off of the Union exhibit notebook No. 3.  
3 A    Okay.
4 Q    The first thing I would like to do is sub in a new     
5      Exhibit 44, so if you'll just go ahead and take out that 
6      Exhibit 44.  
7 A    Okay.  These two or three pages?  
8 Q    The whole thing, whatever it is.  
9 A    Okay.

10 Q    There's a new one.  Go ahead and take that yellow sticky 
11      off.  
12                ARBITRATOR:  Do you want the landscape formatted 
13      page on top?  
14                MR. THAL:  I do, yeah.  
15 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  So looking at that landscape formatted 
16      document, what is this document, Mr. Endresen?
17 A    This is a total revenues and expenditures in the general 
18      fund for the State of Washington for the five biennial 
19      periods, 2008 through 2013.
20 Q    I think you said biennial, but those are actually annuals, 
21      aren't they?
22 A    I guess these are annual figures.  The five annual figures: 
23      '8-'9, '9-'10, '10-'11, '11-'12, '12-'13.
24 Q    And does it also show the beginning of the general and 
25      ending fund balance for those?
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1 A    Yes.
2 Q    Beginning and ending general fund balance for those?
3 A    Yes.
4 Q    Let's dig into this just a little bit.  If we were to 
5      compare where the State of Washington stood in terms of 
6      total revenues in the '08-'09 year with the most recent 
7      2012-2013 fiscal year that we have data for, what would we 
8      find in terms of a change there?
9 A    So total revenues, if you compare the $21 million 587 with 

10      the $24 million 702, for that period, revenue, general 
11      revenues, increased about 14.4 percent.
12 Q    And how did things stack up in terms of expenditures?
13 A    And then comparing the 2008-'09 figure of $22 million plus 
14      with the 237 for 2012-'13, that is an increase of 7 percent.
15 Q    And so what, if anything, can you give us in terms of a 
16      general conclusion about the trending here?
17 A    Well, this is -- it is an interesting trend here.  The 
18      general trend is fortunately up, up considerably with the -- 
19      in terms of revenues, even though it's kind of up and down 
20      along with the way.  And with expenditures, fortunately they 
21      did not grow as fast as revenues for this period.
22 Q    Now, what do we mean when we're talking about the general 
23      fund balance?  What does that signify to you?
24 A    That is kind of a savings account, if you will, to be held 
25      against shortfalls, to add to during good times and to pay 
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1      for shortfalls during bad times, as a general statement.
2 Q    If we were to look at that ending fund balance number in 
3      the '08-'09 time frame as compared with the most recent 
4      number that we have, as we sit here today, what do we see?
5 A    Yeah.  The comparing the $1 billion 162, about, with the   
6      $1 billion 382 or 3, the fund balance -- the ending general 
7      fund balance is 19 percent higher than the '08-'09 period.  
8      And just incidentally, that scary figure there of        
9      $378 million, it's a big number, but compared to these other 

10      numbers, it's not, $378 thousand -- 
11 Q    No.  
12 A    $378 million, the figure for two thousand -- that's in 
13      the '09-'10 period.  And the figure for the '12-'13 period 
14      is over a billion dollars higher.  So that's a nice healthy 
15      increase.  Good to see.
16 Q    Good.  Now, let's see if we can take a look at where the 
17      State is heading both from a short-term perspective and a 
18      long-term perspective.  If you could start by taking a look 
19      at Exhibit 45 in this exhibit notebook, please.  
20 A    Okay.
21 Q    So we're looking at --
22 A    Yes.  Okay.
23                ARBITRATOR:  Tell me again where we are, Spencer.
24                MR. THAL:  Very next exhibit.  We're going to 
25      Exhibit 45. 
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1 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  Did you review this document, Mr. Endresen?

2 A    Yes.

3 Q    What did you notice from it in terms of getting a picture 

4      about the State's sort of immediate short-term anticipation 

5      of economic status relative to the general fund, the 

6      revenue?

7 A    Yes.  Washington State finances seemed to have come out of 

8      the recent -- well, recent, starting in '08, downturn in a 

9      moderate and steady fashion.  Employment is picking up.  

10      Revenues are picking up.  Expenses have not gone up as fast 

11      as revenues.  Looking forward in the 2011-'13 time period, 

12      revenues increased nicely.  They're anticipated to slow down 

13      a little bit, but still be healthy and --

14 Q    Where do you find that?

15 A    I think it refers to an increase during the 2011 and '13 

16      time period with revenues going up 8 point -- here we have 

17      at the top of page 8 -- page 6, sorry.  It says their 

18      general fund revenues are forecasted to grow at a          

19      7.6 percent rate in the 2013-'15 biennium compared to       

20      8.7 percent gain in the '11-'13 biennium.  So the slowly 

21      rebounding economy, pick up in hiring and so forth.  

22           Part of this is explained by the fact that you have an 

23      increase, higher increase, but off of a lower number.  So 

24      here we have a higher number going forward but kind of a -- 

25      maybe dollar-wise may be equivalent to a greater increase in 
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1      actual dollars.  

2           And then the -- have a general discussion about the 

3      economy, which is generally favorable.  And then also a note 

4      on action taken by better management of State government, 

5      which is under page 10, and I just note in this age of 

6      government having difficulty agreeing on things, on some 

7      reforms that created significant savings.

8 Q    When you say "page 10," where are you specifically focused 

9      on?

10 A    On page 10 right in the middle of the page.  In the fourth 

11      paragraph down, it says, "In recent years."  And I note 

12      that -- anyway, "In recent years, Washington has adopted 

13      reforms that will significantly benefit state government's 

14      cost curve.  These include pension reforms projected to save 

15      more than $10 billion and save local funds over the next    

16      25 years.  Unemployment insurance reforms measure passed in 

17      2011 were projected to save businesses, especially small 

18      businesses, 300 million dollars in 2012 alone."

19           I just bring that out to show that the State can move 

20      around large amounts of money by -- through reforms.

21 Q    Now, if we wanted to take a longer term look at the State's 

22      overall financial future, did you review a report related to 

23      that issue?

24 A    Yes.  

25 Q    Could I ask you to turn to the next exhibit in the notebook, 
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1      Exhibit 46, please.  

2 A    Yes.  Okay.  

3 Q    First of all, in a general sense, what is this report that 

4      we're looking at?

5 A    This report indexes and ranks, if you will, the 50 states on 

6      how competitive they are in attracting mainly 

7      technologically based industries and how prepared they are 

8      for -- education-wise and infrastructure-wise to attract 

9      businesses.  It's kind of overall a measure of how 

10      attractive these states should be or should not be to 

11      businesses in the higher technology area.

12 Q    Why is that important in terms of telling us something about 

13      Washington's long-term economic future?

14 A    Well, one, Washington State has a nice base of technology, 

15      especially in Western Washington already and so building on 

16      what's already here, it is important.  It does seem a 

17      significant part of the economy in the United States and all 

18      developed countries is based on technological gains, on new 

19      ways of doing business, on technology, on high-paying jobs 

20      that are attracted to areas that have educated people and a 

21      strong infrastructure.

22 Q    How did Washington come out?

23 A    Washington overall has a score of 4.  It goes from 

24      Massachusetts, Delaware, California, and then Washington.  

25      And there are a number of, which I won't go into all of 
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1      these, about 30 or 40 categories of -- or more of items that 
2      they rank each state on.  And as combining all those in 
3      little total, Washington comes out number 4 overall, you 
4      know, higher in some areas, lower in others.
5 Q    Okay.  
6 A    So I would -- like I said, in terms of an evaluation, it's 
7      nice to see Washington be very competitive in this area 
8      because this is where apparently a lot of future employment 
9      will come from.

10 Q    Thank you.  
11           Just as a matter of cleanup for our evidentiary record, 
12      can you identify what this next exhibit is?  Does this -- if 
13      you turn to the next document, Exhibit 47, is this something 
14      that is familiar to you in terms of a report?
15 A    Yeah, generally.  You know, I -- these broad-based national 
16      income, you know, I think they -- yes.  I'm generally 
17      familiar with them.  I think they're --
18 Q    What are we looking at in this next exhibit, Exhibit 47?
19 A    Well, you know, kind of an overall very broad look at where 
20      they think the economy is going, where it is right now, and 
21      where it's going in the near term.  And so I think these are 
22      very difficult to evaluate because they give a general 
23      direction, I think, but in terms of absolute numbers with an 
24      economy that is as complicated as the U.S. economy, it's 
25      just more of a guideline, I think, rather than the hard 
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1      numbers that might come out of it.
2 Q    Okay.  Thank you.  
3                ARBITRATOR:  I'm sorry.  What critter produces 
4      this report?  
5                THE WITNESS:  Yes.  Here.  This is the -- 
6                ARBITRATOR:  Bea.gov?  
7                MR. THAL:  Bureau of Economic Affairs, I think.
8                THE WITNESS:  Yes.
9                MR. THAL:  We're going to switch gears now.  I 

10      think we'll find we're up to Exhibit 59.  Is that right, 
11      Mr. Arbitrator?  
12                ARBITRATOR:  I'll check.  Well -- 
13                MR. THAL:  Do you not have 59 through 61?  
14                ARBITRATOR:  I have 59 through 60.  Don't have a 
15      61.  
16                MR. THAL:  61.  It may be that 59 and 60 got 
17      combined because they look very similar.  59 is a chart and 
18      60, I think, is the article about the chart.  
19                ARBITRATOR:  Well, perhaps.  Actually, it says on 
20      59 it promises a larger version on 60, but I don't seem to 
21      have it.  Okay.  I have it, but I don't have 61.  
22                MR. THAL:  Let's see.  So . . .
23                MR. SWEDLOW:  Do you want to go off the record?  
24                ARBITRATOR:  Let's go off the record.
25                                     (Recessed at 9:31 a.m.)
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1                                     (Reconvened at 9:32 a.m.)

2                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record.  

3           My book has a 61 and a 62 and the official record 

4      should as well.  

5 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  Mr. Endresen, what are we looking at here?

6 A    These are total general fund expenditures and general fund 

7      corrections expenditures for a number of western states in 

8      the United States.  And then the percentage is the 

9      percentage of corrections expenditures from the general fund 

10      in relationship to total general fund expenditures for each 

11      state.

12 Q    Let's go through Alaska, just to give a sense of this.  And 

13      in order to do that, I'm going to hand out two more 

14      exhibits.  Let's start with the total general fund 

15      expenditures number.  

16 A    Okay.  

17 Q    So this would be 63 and if you can just have 63 and 62 side 

18      by side as we go through this.  

19 A    Okay.  

20 Q    So if we were to look at 63, can you relate Exhibit 63 to 

21      the number we see on Exhibit 62?

22 A    Okay.  For state of Alaska, say the -- on 62, the figure is 

23      $9,817,000-plus and the -- $9 billion.  And then in the 

24      state of Alaska exhibit, under 63, under it says total 

25      expenditures there and it's highlighted.  That's the        
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1      $9,817,000-plus.
2 Q    I'm not going to walk you through all of Exhibit 63, but if 
3      we were to go through Exhibit 63, is that where we would 
4      find those numbers?
5 A    That's the source of the number on the 62 exhibit.
6 Q    Sounds good.  Why don't you go ahead and put 63 in your 
7      notebook so we're not looking at too many things here at 
8      once, and I'm going to hand you Exhibit 64.  
9 A    Okay.

10 Q    64.  
11 A    64.  Okay.
12 Q    So let's work through 64 because there are some -- a couple 
13      of unusual things that we should probably highlight for the 
14      arbitrator.  First of all, if we take a look at Alaska, how 
15      do we get to the $285,515 that we see on Exhibit 62?
16 A    Well, apparently it is the two -- the unrestricted general 
17      fund number of $283,359,000 plus another couple million 
18      dollars.  I'm not exactly sure where that other $2 million 
19      comes from, but here on the Exhibit 62, you have 
20      $285,515,000.  And then in -- on the exhibit you have 
21      unrestricted general fund expenses of $283,359.5.  
22 Q    Let's turn to Arizona, if we can, the next exhibit.  
23 A    Okay.  
24 Q    Next page of the exhibit?
25 A    Yes, right.
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1 Q    Does that number match up?
2 A    Yes.  We have the highlighted on 62 and 63 match up.
3 Q    California?
4 A    California, where it has correctional programs of $8 billion 
5      301 million, yes.
6 Q    What about Colorado?
7 A    Yes.  That matches up.  
8 Q    Now, what happened here with Hawaii?
9 A    Well, Hawaii, Hawaii doesn't have a -- they don't report it 

10      as a budget -- single-page budget item.  There are like 
11      seven or eight facilities that are budgeted separately, and 
12      this is the combination number for all of those facilities.
13 Q    That data is available?
14 A    We can produce that.
15                MR. LOWY:  Do you have Hawaii?  
16                MR. THAL:  That's what I'm just saying.  It's 
17      not -- we were just testifying about it.  It's a combination 
18      of documents that's not in here.  If you're interested, we 
19      can get it.
20 A    Each facility has it own budget, if you will.
21 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  If we go to Idaho?
22 A    Yes.  That figure is the same for fiscal year 2013.
23 Q    There's an asterisk on Exhibit 62 about Idaho's correctional 
24      expenditures on Exhibit 62.  
25 A    Yes.  Corrections expenditures, total amount, general fund 
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1      allocation not determined.  So that is -- let's see.  
2 Q    So that number might actually be smaller, if it were general 
3      fund only?
4 A    Yes.
5 Q    And then turning then to Montana, do we have a match there 
6      with the $170,089,000?
7 A    With the appropriation for fiscal year 2013, yes.
8 Q    Now, Nevada and New Mexico, just for the record, are out of 
9      order here.  So let's start with New Mexico, since that's 

10      the next one in order on the exhibit.  
11 A    Okay.  
12 Q    And we -- it looks like we've highlighted the 2012-2013 
13      budget, but where does the number $256,977 come from?
14 A    That actually is a fiscal year 2012, 2011-2012 number.  
15 Q    And that's indicated by the double asterisk there?
16 A    Yes.
17 Q    Now let's go back to Nevada, which is the next document in 
18      Exhibit 64, and how do we get to the Nevada number of 
19      $255,893?
20 A    Yes.  As indicated on the Exhibit 63 for Nevada, the 
21      Department biennium total by funding source, 88 percent of 
22      the total is from the general fund.  So this figure on the 
23      Nevada sheet of $290,787,000 has been adjusted down by     
24      12 percent, if you will, to show that 88 percent of that 
25      $290 million comes from the general fund.

Page 733

1 Q    That's how we get to the $255,893,000 that we see on  
2      Exhibit 62?
3 A    Right, yes.  
4 Q    Let's turn, if we could, to the Oregon page in Exhibit 64, 
5      please.  
6 A    Right.  
7 Q    This is showing a legislatively approved budget in '11-'13 
8      of $1.36 billion on Department of Corrections.  
9 A    Right.  That's a two-year figure.  So if you divide it by 

10      two, you come up with the $681 million, et cetera.
11 Q    And might as well finish off the table here.  It looks like 
12      Utah matches?
13 A    Utah matches up too.
14 Q    Correct?  
15 A    '13.  
16 Q    And then I'm seeing Utah as $244,833,000 on both sheets.  
17 A    Yes.  Okay.  
18 Q    And then if we do Wyoming, the next one down at the bottom 
19      of the page, it looks like we have a match there as well?
20 A    $278,772,000.
21 Q    Okay.  Although that is a 2012 number?
22 A    Right.
23 Q    And then taking a look at Washington, what does that show?
24 A    Adult corrections at $843,550,000.
25 Q    Which is where we start your testimony of the annual 
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1      corrections budget?

2 A    That is right.  So double that, it's right around         

3      $1.7 billion.

4 Q    What does Exhibit 62 then tell us?

5 A    Well, by extending it over to that percentage, if you -- you 

6      could rank order these, I guess, these states, by what 

7      percentage of their general fund expenditures, how that 

8      relates to the general fund total for corrections.  But it 

9      basically -- the average for the states under consideration, 

10      other than Washington, spend about 7.5 percent of general 

11      fund monies on corrections.  And the indication here is that 

12      Washington State spends about 3.6 percent of general fund 

13      expenditures on corrections.  That would put them below the 

14      majority, large majority, of the comparable states.

15 Q    In fact, how many other states spend less on corrections 

16      than the state of Washington on a percentage basis?

17 A    It looks like one, Alaska.

18                MR. THAL:  Thank you.  I don't have any further 

19      questions.  

20                ARBITRATOR:  Do you want a minute, Otto, or are 

21      you ready to go?  

22                MR. KLEIN:  Going to be a little while, seeing all 

23      this for the very first time now.

24                ARBITRATOR:  Off the record.

25                                     (Recessed at 9:43 a.m.)
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1                                     (Reconvened at 10:20 a.m.)
2                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record and turning to 
3      cross.
4                         CROSS EXAMINATION
5 BY MR. KLEIN:  
6 Q    Mr. Endresen, good to see you again.  
7 A    You as well, Otto.  Thanks.
8 Q    Could you look at Exhibit 4-1 for me, please.  
9 A    Okay.  Yes.

10 Q    And for purposes of my question, I would like you to assume 
11      that the numbers you'll see in terms of inmate population is 
12      the numbers that each state has of inmates as of 2012.  So, 
13      for instance, Washington is 17,254; Arizona 38,000;         
14      et cetera.  
15 A    Right.
16 Q    Now, could you look at your Exhibit 62.  
17                MR. THAL:  You have to switch notebooks.
18                THE WITNESS:  Okay.  
19 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  You get to go back to the notebook.  
20                MR. THAL:  Are you going to need anything else at 
21      this point for 62?  
22                MR. KLEIN:  He'll need 62 through 64.  
23                MR. THAL:  Let me just pull them all out then.  
24           That's 62 through 64.
25                THE WITNESS:  Okay.  62.
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1 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  What I would like you to do is look at 62 
2      perhaps in your left hand and have right in front of you the 
3      information from 4-1.  
4 A    Right.
5 Q    Let's start with Arizona, if we can.  In 62, you've told us 
6      that the general fund -- that the corrections in Arizona 
7      spends $946 million.  Have I got that right?
8 A    Yes.
9 Q    And you've told us that Washington spends $843 million.  

10 A    Yes.
11 Q    If we look at the number of prisoners housed in Arizona, 
12      which is over on 4-1, it appears that Arizona houses 38,402 
13      as compared to Washington's 17,254.  
14 A    Yes.
15 Q    Arizona is over twice as large?
16 A    Um-hmm.
17 Q    And yet spends just about 10 percent more than Washington.  
18           Do you see that?
19 A    Um-hmm.
20 Q    Would you agree with me that different states will budget in 
21      different ways?
22 A    Sure they do.
23 Q    And that, with regard to what gets included in a general 
24      fund for corrections, there's going to be differences 
25      between states?
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1 A    I don't know that as a fact.  I imagine there are some 
2      differences.  And I don't -- I only say that in -- say in 
3      particular, say we're talking Arizona, I see the asterisk 
4      here with 6,000 in private facilities.  I don't know if 
5      that's part of the $38,000.
6 Q    Let's assume that it's $32,000.  That's 50 percent greater 
7      than the state of Washington?
8 A    Correct.  Almost 80.  Okay.
9 Q    So would you assume with me that there's some chance that 

10      there's either in -- Washington's number being a little 
11      high -- excuse me, being a little low, not including stuff 
12      or in -- back up.  That was not right.  
13           Would you agree with me that most likely either 
14      Arizona's number doesn't include some stuff that they must 
15      be expending, or Washington's number includes some stuff 
16      that, for whatever reason, isn't in the Arizona budget?
17 A    Everything is possible really.  Capital improvements, 
18      personnel, yeah.  I'm sure there are many budgetary 
19      differences.
20 Q    The Washington numbers you've given us, the $23 billion and 
21      the general fund on Exhibit 62, those include federal funds, 
22      don't they?
23 A    On 62?  
24 Q    Yes.  
25                MR. THAL:  63 will have the detail, if you're 
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1      looking for that.  That will be the last page.  
2 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  I think, if you look up in the revenue 
3      column, for instance, you'll see federal grants and aid is 
4      $8.7 billion of the $24 billion.  
5 A    Yes.
6 Q    Do you know whether in the other states in the numbers 
7      you've given us, whether federal funds are included or 
8      excluded?
9 A    I don't.  Well, I see that in, say, Alaska, $2.4 million.  

10 Q    And if you went to Montana, would you see that there's a 
11      whole column of federal funds that aren't included in the 
12      numbers you gave us?
13 A    Aren't or are?  
14 Q    On the far right, you've included the general number from 
15      the general fund -- 
16 A    Right.
17 Q    -- which is the left column, and it appears that, in 
18      addition to the $1.9 billion in the general fund from 
19      Montana, there's another 2 point -- almost $2.1 billion in 
20      federal funds, according to this sheet that you gave us.  
21 A    Yes.  Okay.  
22 Q    Now, could you go back to 62 for a minute, please.  I'm 
23      hoping you'll still have 4-1 near you.  
24 A    4-1.
25 Q    That was the population in prisons.  
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1                MR. THAL:  Help you out here.  This is 4-1.
2 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  And you need 62.  
3                MR. THAL:  62 is the chart -- I mean spreadsheet.  
4 A    Okay.  Here this is.  This is this.  So it's back over in 
5      the other -- 
6                MR. THAL:  It's somewhere in here.  
7 A    There we are.  Okay.  
8 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  And I'm focused -- there are five states the 
9      parties are focused on here as comparables, so I'm just 

10      going to try to limit my stuff to those five states.  Just 
11      so you know, it's Arizona, Colorado, Nevada, Oregon, and 
12      Utah.  
13 A    Okay.
14 Q    Looks like you're going to make a note.  Do you want me to 
15      go through those again?
16 A    Okay.  Arizona.
17 Q    Colorado, Nevada.  
18 A    Um-hmm.
19 Q    Oregon and Utah.  
20 A    Okay.  
21 Q    So we've talked a little bit about Arizona.  Colorado, 
22      looking at our number of prisoners, has about 3,000 more 
23      than Washington.  
24 A    Um-hmm.
25 Q    And has an expenditure which is about $190 million more.  
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1      Washington has an expenditure which is $190 million more 

2      than Colorado, even though Colorado houses an additional 

3      3,000 prisoners.  

4 A    Right. 

5 Q    Does that, again, cause you to wonder if perhaps that 

6      there's not an apples to apples going on in the general fund 

7      comparison?

8 A    It's hard to say.  This is one piece of information.  If you 

9      got down to personnel, which we're talking about maybe here, 

10      then maybe that would come out in terms of the compensation 

11      for individuals.  

12           This is a very -- I'll give you this:  This is a very 

13      broad look at corrections expenditures versus general fund 

14      expenditures, but what it tells you about the matter before 

15      the arbitrator is probably just a little piece of 

16      information for him to consider.

17 Q    But can I take it from that, what you've just told me, if 

18      I'm comparing the 4.5 percent you've shown us in Colorado, 

19      compared it with the 3.6 percent in Washington, we can't 

20      really rely upon those numbers with precision, given the 

21      kinds of differences we were just talking about with regard 

22      to prisoners and the size of the general fund?

23 A    Probably needs some more detail.

24 Q    You wouldn't want to be betting your place up in Winthrop 

25      that those numbers are correct?
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1 A    Well, I think that they just bring up the question of why do 
2      you have these difference?  So I think we probably are 
3      agreeing in that sense that, in order to figure out why 
4      there's such a difference there, yeah, you have to look at 
5      it a little bit more deeply.
6 Q    How about Nevada?  It appears in Nevada we have 12,744 
7      prisoners or inmates.  So it's, what, three-quarters of 
8      Washington or something like that?  Ballpark?
9 A    Right.

10 Q    And if we look over at your expenditures, they're expending 
11      $255 million -- 
12 A    Right.
13 Q    -- compared to $843 million in Washington.  
14 A    Um-hmm.
15 Q    Again, seems like there must not be an apples and apples 
16      there.  
17 A    It brings up the question, yes.
18 Q    I have to get my glasses because you're making me look at 
19      these smaller numbers on 63.  
20                MR. THAL:  Do you want him on 63 then?  
21                MR. KLEIN:  Yes.  I'll be there in just a moment.  
22 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Could you look at Oregon for a moment, 
23      please.  It looks like -- 
24                MR. THAL:  I'll get him to it.
25                MR. KLEIN:  Yes.  
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1 A    Okay.
2 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Do you have Oregon in front of you?
3 A    Right.
4 Q    In Oregon there's the first column is general and the next 
5      is health and social services.  Do you see that?
6 A    Yes.
7 Q    And do you see the health and social services number is   
8      $5.6 billion?
9 A    Right.

10 Q    And in Washington, is it safe to say, or do you know whether 
11      the health and social services numbers are included in the 
12      general fund?
13 A    In Washington?  
14 Q    Yes.  
15 A    No.  I don't know.
16 Q    Could you look at Utah for me, please?
17                MR. THAL:  Still 62?  
18                MR. KLEIN:  Yes.
19                MR. THAL:  63, sorry.  
20                MR. KLEIN:  63.
21 A    Okay.
22 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  There in Utah we have the general fund and 
23      then there's the next column is education.  
24           Do you see that?
25 A    Right.
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1 Q    It's a breakout of education.  To the best of your 
2      knowledge, would you agree with me that education is 
3      included in the general fund of Washington?
4 A    I would have to look at Washington.
5 Q    Is there something you can look at that you would be able to 
6      answer that question for us?
7 A    I think so.  Well, it brings up another question.  Higher 
8      education special revenue funds are separated out for 
9      Washington, and so I wouldn't know in Utah whether that -- 

10      those same revenues and expenditures would be included in 
11      Utah.  
12 Q    So if you look in Utah, as long as you've raised the 
13      question -- 
14 A    Sure.
15 Q    -- maybe you can see under the expenditures, it has 
16      expenditures for higher education that are included in the 
17      general fund.  
18 A    Yes.
19 Q    And then it has public education, which is not included in 
20      the general fund.  
21 A    Right.
22 Q    And would you -- if you go to Washington, would you agree 
23      with me that, while there's entries for higher education, 
24      that general education is included in the general fund and, 
25      indeed, it's a $9 billion expenditure?
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1 A    Yes.
2 Q    And could you look at human services just up above that in 
3      Washington?
4 A    Um-hmm.
5 Q    That's also in the general fund?
6 A    Right.
7 Q    And with regard to the way different states would budget an 
8      individual department, from your experience, would you agree 
9      with me that there may well be differences in how that 

10      happens?
11 A    Yeah.  Apparently the way you've already pointed out here, 
12      states treat these differently, yeah.
13 Q    On Exhibit 44, do you have that in front of you?  Or could 
14      you get that in front of you?  Excuse me.  
15                MR. THAL:  Give me just a second, Otto.  Do you 
16      want me to pull out the whole 44 through 47 slew?  
17                MR. KLEIN:  That would be great.  Thank you.  
18                MR. THAL:  Are you done with the white notebook?  
19                MR. KLEIN:  I am.
20                MR. THAL:  There's 44 through 47.  What are we 
21      starting with?  
22                MR. KLEIN:  44.
23 A    Okay.  
24                ARBITRATOR:  Hang on just a second.  I'm ready.
25 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  On Exhibit 44 this shows the general fund 
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1      revenues expenditure and fund balance.  Am I correct that 

2      this is the general fund that includes all the federal 

3      revenues or -- money that comes in?

4 A    To the extent they were detailed on the prior exhibit.
5 Q    And do you have any idea what level of or what percentage of 

6      the overall Department of Corrections' budget is able to use 

7      or tap in to federal money?

8 A    No.
9 Q    Could you look at Exhibit 45 for me, please.  

10                MR. THAL:  Give me that one back.  

11 A    Okay.  
12                ARBITRATOR:  Hang on just one second.  Okay.

13 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Am I correct that this document -- back up.  

14           Have you heard of the Economic Forecast Council?

15 A    Yes.
16 Q    And they come out with their best assessment of what's going 

17      to happen with regard to revenues over the upcoming period?

18 A    Yes.
19 Q    And they update that on a pretty regular basis?

20 A    Um-hmm -- yes.
21 Q    And would you agree with me that, in terms of as we sit here 

22      today, if there's a document that had been prepared and 

23      issued by the Revenue Forecast Council in June of 2014, that 

24      that's probably a better predictor of where we are going and 

25      where we are than a document prepared in November of 2013?

Page 746

1 A    To the extent that they address the same issues.  This is a 
2      little bit more expansive than the Forecast Council's work.
3 Q    Now, could you on Exhibit 45, could you look at page 9 for 
4      me, please?
5 A    Okay.  Okay.  
6 Q    Right under major initiatives, it says, "Entering the great 
7      recession later than most states, Washington is recovering 
8      at a somewhat similar pace."
9           Do you see that?

10 A    Yes.
11 Q    That's consistent with what you understand as well.  
12      Correct?
13 A    Well, I take it -- that's not something that I testified to, 
14      but I believe it's true, yes.
15 Q    I appreciate you sort of picked and chose different things.  
16      Let's do this:  Would you agree with me that with regard to 
17      this document, that you and I could probably both find 
18      various sentences in it, but that with regard to the entire 
19      document, that the document does speak for itself?
20                MR. THAL:  We'll stipulate to that.
21                MR. KLEIN:  I had a hunch.  If you weren't going 
22      to go there, he was.
23                ARBITRATOR:  I'll drink to that one.  It says what 
24      it says.
25 A    It says what it says.
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1                ARBITRATOR:  And I will look forward to reading 

2      it.

3 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Exhibit 46, the new economy index.  

4 A    Yes.

5 Q    Would you agree with me that for purposes of deciding what 

6      wages should be now, that this document doesn't help us very 

7      much?

8 A    Well, not to be evasive, only in the most general sense that 

9      whatever wages are paid today, if they are, as I understand 

10      they are in Washington State, maybe higher than the average 

11      in the states, that that has not hurt Washington in terms of 

12      their ranking, but in terms of arriving at a number for the 

13      increase for this unit, yes, I would agree.

14 Q    This document doesn't have anything about wages in the 

15      particular areas.  It's all about things related to the 

16      technology business and support and infrastructure of the 

17      technology business.  Is that fair?

18 A    Yeah, generally.  I guess embedded in the evaluation is 

19      something to do with compensation, but nothing directly.

20 Q    Could you look at 47 for me, please.  

21                MR. THAL:  Before we move on -- go ahead.

22                ARBITRATOR:  To save you some trouble, my 

23      understanding is that OFM, when it takes a look at financial 

24      feasibility of awards, looks, in particular, at down-year 

25      costs.  And I assume, when they're looking at down-year 
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1      costs, they are looking at -- looking at that in one hand 
2      and things like the financial forecast, their own internal 
3      financial forecast, and such wide ranging other information 
4      about down-year ability to pay in the other, so peripherally 
5      relevant.  
6                MR. THAL:  And just for the record, this is an 
7      excerpt of that report because I didn't want to put in a 
8      200-page report, since the paper already is heavy here, but 
9      if anyone is interested, it's available.  

10                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.
11                MR. KLEIN:  We'll let you know.  
12 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Could you look at 47 for me, please.  
13 A    Yes.
14 Q    And I think you indicated this is a broad economic -- some 
15      broad economic data?
16 A    Yes.
17 Q    And it appears that the -- it announces that, in the second 
18      quarter of this year, the GDP increased by 4 percent.  Is 
19      that correct?
20 A    Um-hmm.
21 Q    And it also says, if you looked at the quarter before, it 
22      was actually 2.1 percent decrease.  
23 A    Exactly.
24 Q    And so with regard to GDP, it's still sort of fluctuating up 
25      and down at the moment?
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1 A    It's fluctuating in a generally upward direction.
2 Q    And the negative 2.1 percent, the quarter before, is . . . ?  

3 A    Well, in the way that every chart, stock market, index, what 
4      have you, has a general direction and then it has noise, if 
5      you will, around that general direction.  I would say that 
6      maybe we all would be in agreement that GDP in Washington 
7      State and the nation as a whole now is in a generally upward 
8      direction with ups and downs along the way.
9 Q    A modest increase?

10                ARBITRATOR:  I decline to embrace that conclusion.  

11      I don't think that the data is clear with respect to that, 

12      and there's a bunch of economic factors that would suggest 

13      that we are still stuck in uncertainty land.

14                THE WITNESS:  I meant that specifically in 

15      relationship to GDP.

16                ARBITRATOR:  There are a bunch of people who would 

17      suggest that we are still stuck in uncertainty land with 

18      respect to the change in the GDP.

19                THE WITNESS:  Okay.

20                ARBITRATOR:  Witness last week's report from 

21      Wyoming, which we still don't know when there's going to be 

22      a reduction in the market support from the central banks,    

23      so . . . 

24                THE WITNESS:  Right.  

25 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  You in your testimony referenced and I think 
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1      it was in -- from Exhibit 45, but I'm not going to go back 
2      and double-check that, but it talked a little bit about 
3      pensions and that that was a potential opportunity for the 
4      State of Washington in terms of controlling expenditures.  
5 A    I was just reading from the letter.  None of my opinion 
6      about whether -- it was just the idea that government is -- 
7      can be responsive to cost pressures and can identify and 
8      enact savings.
9 Q    From your work with Western Conference Teamsters pension 

10      trust, I assume you're all too aware how actuarial 
11      assumptions can make a significant difference in terms of 
12      the overall expenditure you're going to have to make?
13 A    Yes.
14 Q    And with regard to -- are you aware whether the State of 
15      Washington has determined that, for the next biennium, as a 
16      result of being informed of some changes that need to be 
17      made in actuarial assumptions in what it has used, that the 
18      State is going to have to pay an additional almost -- a 
19      little over, actually, $300 million in the next biennium on 
20      pensions?
21 A    Is that $300 million embedded in the so-called $10 billion 
22      worth savings in that letter?  
23 Q    You would have to talk to the person who drafted the letter 
24      as to whether it's in or out.  I'm just asking you whether 
25      you know, as the State of Washington puts together its 
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1      budgets for this next biennium, that the State is having to 

2      fund an additional $300 million for pension expenditures 

3      that it didn't anticipate having to do.  

4 A    I don't know anything about that.

5 Q    Thank you.  

6           I think you told us that the proposal of the Teamsters 

7      in this proceeding is about 7 or 7 and a half percent of the 

8      total budget of Corrections.  Did I get that right?

9 A    Yes.

10 Q    And in your work that you did before -- I think you've 

11      indicated that you would do cost proposals and a lot of work 

12      in terms of assisting locals and the unions in terms of 

13      their upcoming negotiations -- did you ever see any proposal 

14      ever that was 7 -- added, incrementally added, 7 to 7 and a 

15      half percent to the employer's total cost?

16 A    Well, whether it was 7 and a half percent or some other 

17      number, we do that kind of a calculation.

18 Q    I'm just asking whether you've ever seen anything anywhere 

19      close to that high.  

20 A    Well, let's -- I will say this:  I never -- we didn't 

21      calculate things that way, you know, so we rarely would have 

22      any information on what the employer's total expenditures 

23      would be and would not do a calculation on that basis.  So I 

24      guess I can say no.

25 Q    That's only because you didn't have the numbers?
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1 A    Well -- 
2 Q    That's not a calculation you would make?
3 A    No, no, not generally.  But here the numbers are available 
4      and it reveals what it reveals.
5                MR. KLEIN:  I have nothing further.  Thank you.
6                ARBITRATOR:  Is there redirect?  
7                MR. THAL:  No.  
8                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks very much for coming in, Mark.  
9           Off the record.

10                                     (Recessed at 10:48 a.m.)
11                                     (Reconvened at 11:01 a.m.)
12                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record after a couple 
13      minutes' break, and we have some housekeeping records 
14      things.  
15                MR. THAL:  Yes.  The Union has presented to you 
16      and to the State Exhibits 65, 66, 67, and 68.  All of these 
17      are excerpts from collective bargaining agreements from 
18      states that have them related to the on-call issue which 
19      we're now going to hear testimony about.  
20           65 is the California CBA excerpts.  
21           66 is the Oregon SEIU excerpt on on-call.
22           67 is the AOCE Oregon on-call excerpt.
23           And then 68, if I've been saying the numbers right, 
24      should be the New Mexico CBA.
25                MR. KLEIN:  Can I inquire about the relevance of 

Page 753

1      states other than the comp states?  
2                MR. THAL:  Well, we have not agreed -- although 
3      you've presented it this way, we've not agreed on the five 
4      states as comp states.  It's just that you won't find 
5      on-call provisions in any states that don't have collective 
6      bargaining agreements.  What you're calling the agreed-upon 
7      comp states often don't because there aren't collective 
8      bargaining agreements.  So we've got the provisions from the 
9      states that have them.  

10                ARBITRATOR:  Was there an objection?  
11                MR. KLEIN:  Well, I'm not sure what to do with 
12      that.  I thought we heard that it was going to be the five 
13      states.  I did see one document that had three states, 
14      rather than five states, and -- but neither California, New 
15      Mexico was anywhere near.  I mean, we'll spend more time 
16      arguing about it, I guess, than it's worth, but I don't 
17      understand the relevance of it.  
18                ARBITRATOR:  That's a no?  
19                MR. KLEIN:  That's a no to?  
20                MR. THAL:  Objection?  
21                ARBITRATOR:  Is there an objection?  
22                MR. KLEIN:  Yes.  I'll object.  
23                ARBITRATOR:  Why should I care?  I understand your 
24      argument to be because I need to look at a broader spectrum 
25      of alternatives than are available within the restrictions 
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1      of the five states, but we're looking at them for money 
2      overall.
3                MR. THAL:  Yeah.  Because three of them don't have 
4      collective bargaining agreements.  That would be Arizona, 
5      Colorado, and Utah.  And the two that do, you have in that 
6      stack.  Let's see.  I get that right?  Oregon has it.  You 
7      have that.  Let's see.  Yeah, I think that's right.  I think 
8      we've given you the collective bargaining agreement 
9      provisions from those that have it, and you won't find 

10      on-call provisions in states that don't have collective 
11      bargaining agreements, so it's hard to . . .
12                MR. KLEIN:  Doesn't Nevada have a collective 
13      bargaining agreement?  
14                MR. THAL:  Yes.
15                MR. KLEIN:  I think there's an on-call -- 
16                MR. THAL:  There's no on-call provision there.
17                MR. KLEIN:  As long as the record reflects that, I 
18      would appreciate that.  
19                MR. THAL:  Agreed.  
20                ARBITRATOR:  There's no on-call provision in the 
21      Nevada DOC CBA?  
22                MR. KLEIN:  Correct.  
23                MR. THAL:  Correct.  
24                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  At last -- sorry for the   
25      delay -- we get to the Union's next witness.  
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1 SANDRA CONNER,              having been first duly sworn,

2                             testified as follows: 

3           

4                ARBITRATOR:  Please spell your name for us.

5                THE WITNESS:  S-a-n-d-r-a C-o-n-n-e-r.

6                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.  

7                         DIRECT EXAMINATION

8 BY MR. SWEDLOW:  

9 Q    Sandra, will you tell us where you work and what you do 

10      there.  

11 A    I work at Airway Heights Correction Center.  I'm a nurse 
12      practitioner with a caseload comprised of adult male 
13      inmates.
14 Q    And how long have you been at Airway Heights?

15 A    I've been at Airway Heights approximately eight years.
16 Q    Is that your whole time at Corrections or have you been at 

17      any other facilities?

18 A    I was at Pine Lodge for a very brief period of time as a 
19      contract employee.
20 Q    That's no longer in existence?

21 A    That's true.
22 Q    Are you a shop steward?

23 A    I am.
24 Q    And are you aware of an issue that the Union has proposed in 

25      this contract about on-call pay?



SWEDLOW (Sandra Conner, 8/25/14)                                

Dixie Cattell & Associates (360) 352-2506

12 (Pages 756 to 759)

Page 756

1 A    Absolutely.

2 Q    What are you currently paid for being on-call?

3 A    $25 a day.

4 Q    And do you know what the Union has proposed for -- to change 

5      that to?

6 A    $125 a day.

7 Q    Where does that $125 come from?  What's that number based 

8      on?

9 A    That's based on what we're expected to do when we are 

10      technically on-call.  

11 Q    What I mean is, do you know where we came up with the number 

12      $125 as opposed to, say, $100, $175, or $200?

13 A    That's based on comparables for contract staff.

14 Q    At Department of Corrections in Washington?

15 A    Yes.

16 Q    So if you're a contract nurse or an ARNP, psych associate, 

17      or something like that -- maybe there's not contracted psych 

18      associates, but if you're a contract position and you're 

19      on-call, are you paid $125 a day?

20 A    To the best of my knowledge, yes.

21 Q    Tell me a little bit about being on-call.  What do you have 

22      to do when you're on-call?

23 A    When we are on-call, we're required to be available for 

24      telephone contact 24 hours a day, seven days a week, for the 

25      period of time we're assigned on-call status.
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1 Q    So are you on-call for a week at a time?
2 A    Generally speaking, when we're fully staffed, we're on-call 
3      for one week at a time.  About every fourth week at my 
4      facility.
5 Q    Does that differ a little at different facilities?
6 A    It varies from facility to facility, depending on how many 
7      midlevel providers they have and how many facilities need to 
8      be covered.
9 Q    Does staffing level change how often you're on-call?

10 A    Absolutely.
11 Q    And has that changed for you?
12 A    Yes.
13 Q    Can you describe that?
14 A    We have been absent one midlevel provider, so the three of 
15      us have to take up that extra week and we've been rotating 
16      it, so really I'll be on-call for two solid weeks.  
17 Q    Just so we understand, for two weeks you have to have your 
18      phone with you at all times?
19 A    Yes.
20 Q    Is there anything more to it than that, or is it just you 
21      have to have your phone?
22 A    We have to be available by phone no matter, with the 
23      understanding that we may be required to respond to the 
24      facility if there's a need.
25 Q    Other than being able to respond -- well, maybe I should ask 
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1      this differently.  What does it mean to be able to respond 
2      to the facility?
3 A    For example, I have gone in on occasion to suture 
4      lacerations.  There have been times where I've rounded the 
5      infirmary to check on patients that were sicker than some of 
6      the others that are in there that we have to monitor fairly 
7      closely that need more than just nursing support.
8 Q    Now, if you get a call on your day off and you're on-call 
9      and you have to go in, are you paid for going in?

10 A    No.  $25 a day.  That's it.
11 Q    Just to be clear -- okay.  Let's back up.  
12           If you get a call and you don't go in, you just answer 
13      the phone and you talk -- 
14 A    Correct.
15 Q    -- you're not paid for that, right, other than the $25?
16 A    That's correct.
17 Q    If it happens six or seven times in the middle of the night, 
18      you're still not paid.  Right?
19 A    That's correct.
20 Q    But if you answer the phone and you are told we need you in 
21      here right away and you go in, are you paid once you go in?
22 A    No.
23 Q    What other impacts do you have as a result of having have to 
24      have the phone?  For example, are you allowed to drink?  Are 
25      you allowed to have a glass a wine or two glasses of wine or 
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1      whatever when you're on-call?

2 A    I would think not.  I have to maintain alertness and be able 

3      to provide appropriate and safe answers for any questions 

4      that are presented to me.  I can't participate in a variety 

5      of activities.  If the family goes to the lake, I can't go 

6      out on the boat and go swimming.  I can't go hiking in the 

7      mountain areas where there's no cell phone reception.  I 

8      pretty much have to stay in the local area.

9 Q    How often are you called or does it vary?

10 A    It varies hugely.  Some days I may not get a phone call, 

11      although that's rare.  The very next day I may get six calls 

12      just in the seven hours that I'm trying to sleep.

13 Q    Is this an important issue for the midlevel overtime -- 

14      these are overtime exempt employees.  Right?  

15 A    That's correct.

16 Q    This would include ARNP's, physician assistants, 

17      psychiatrists, and psych associates?

18 A    I believe so.

19 Q    Anybody else?

20 A    All overtime exempt employees and I'm not sure who exactly 

21      falls into that.

22 Q    Have you as -- 

23                ARBITRATOR:  Tell me again what -- I'm sorry.  

24      Tell me again what you think the covered classes are.

25                MR. SWEDLOW:  ARNP's; PA's, physician assistants; 
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1      psychologists; psychiatrists; psych associates; and that may 
2      not be an inclusive list.  
3                ARBITRATOR:  ARNP, I'm blocking.
4                MR. THAL:  Advanced registered nurse practitioner.
5                ARBITRATOR:  Thank you.
6                MR. THAL:  And the term is used in DOC 
7      synonymously with PA's.  
8                ARBITRATOR:  PA.
9                MR. THAL:  Physician's assistants.

10                ARBITRATOR:  Thank you.  
11 Q    (By Mr. Swedlow)  In your role as a shop steward, have you 
12      had an opportunity to talk to and hear from this group of 
13      overtime exempt employees that we've just talked about?
14 A    Yes.
15 Q    About this issue?
16 A    Yes.
17 Q    Is this an important issue?
18 A    This is a very important, especially with the other ARNP's 
19      and physician's assistants.
20                MR. SWEDLOW:  I have nothing further.  He may have 
21      some questions for you.  
22                MR. LOWY:  If we can have a minute?  
23                ARBITRATOR:  Hang on just one second.
24                MR. LOWY:  Sure.
25                ARBITRATOR:  Is there a limitation on how long 
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1      away from the facility you can be if there's a possibility 
2      that you're going to be required to show up physically?  Do 
3      you have to stay within a certain travel radius?  
4                THE WITNESS:  Not that I'm aware of, mostly 
5      because there are places where one midlevel practitioner is 
6      responsible for multiple facilities, and some of those 
7      facilities are hundreds of miles apart.  
8                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  I guess that's it.  So we'll 
9      take five minutes or so.  

10                MR. LOWY:  Sure.  Thank you.  
11                ARBITRATOR:  Off the record.
12                                     (Recessed at 11:14 a.m.)
13                                     (Reconvened at 11:21 a.m.)
14                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record and returning to 
15      cross.
16                         CROSS EXAMINATION
17 BY MR. LOWY: 
18 Q    Good morning.  
19 A    Good morning.
20 Q    Just one brief question.  I want to make sure I heard this 
21      right because I think you testified to Mr. Swedlow's 
22      question you're not paid when you go into the facility.  
23      Correct?
24 A    That's correct.
25 Q    But I just want to make sure, though, you are an overtime 
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1      exempt employee.  Correct?  
2 A    That's correct.
3                MR. LOWY:  Thank you.  No further questions.  
4                MR. SWEDLOW:  Nothing further.  
5                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks again for coming in.  
6      Appreciate your time.  
7           Next.
8                MR. SWEDLOW:  Michelle Woodrow.
9                ARBITRATOR:  At last.  

10           
11 MICHELLE WOODROW,           having been first duly sworn,
12                             testified as follows: 
13           
14                ARBITRATOR:  Please spell your name for us.
15                THE WITNESS:  Michelle, M-i-c-h-e-l-l-e, Woodrow, 
16      W-o-o-d-r-o-w.  
17                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.  
18                         DIRECT EXAMINATION
19 BY MR. SWEDLOW:  
20 Q    Michelle, where do you work?
21 A    I work at Teamsters Local 117.
22 Q    And what you do you here?
23 A    I am the director of the Corrections and Law Enforcement 
24      Division.
25 Q    How long have you been director of Corrections and Law 

Page 763

1      Enforcement?

2 A    A little over two years.

3 Q    And have you been involved in the bargaining throughout this 

4      whole process?

5 A    Yes.

6 Q    Quick housekeeping matter.  Looking at Exhibit 54, which I 

7      believe is one of the only exhibits left to touch, take a 

8      moment to familiarize yourself with that exhibit.  

9           Have you seen that before?

10 A    I have.

11 Q    Do you remember where?

12 A    Yes.  It was presented -- it's a document that the Union 

13      created and presented to the employer at a meeting that we 

14      had prior to the beginning of negotiations.

15 Q    And just to walk us through what some of these numbers mean, 

16      do you know what all these classifications are:  

17      administrative assistant, automotive mechanic?

18 A    These are all of the classifications that are non-DOC 

19      specific, meaning that they -- you would find these 

20      classifications in other divisions of State government.

21 Q    So we're not going to have correction officers and sergeant?

22 A    No, will not.

23 Q    And looking at administrative assistant 3, for example, what 

24      is this 39 on the left-hand side?

25 A    That's their current pay range.
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1 Q    So in the Teamsters salary schedule, 39 is their pay range?

2 A    Correct.

3 Q    And then what are the numbers going across the top there?

4 A    That would be the entry level, the minimum salary, the 

5      median, and the maximum salary within that range.

6 Q    And then do you know what the next row, starting with 44915 

7      and going to the right, what is that?

8 A    Those are the same things:  minimum, medium, maximum out of 

9      the State salary survey that was done by Segal.

10 Q    Is this an average of other states?

11 A    Right, correct.

12 Q    What's the bottom row -- not the bottom row, but the next 

13      row with 13343 and -- 

14 A    The difference between the two.

15 Q    And then this 54, 55, and 56, what do those numbers 

16      represent?

17 A    Those would represent the ranges that the administrative 3 

18      classification would have to move to, to adjust for market 

19      value based on the comps.

20 Q    And then what about the 16 ranges off to the top right?

21 A    That would be the average number of ranges, so you would 

22      have to increase 16 ranges to get to the average.

23 Q    And is that consistent all the way through?

24 A    Yes.

25 Q    So the numbers differ obviously -- 
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1 A    Correct.
2 Q    -- but the basic setup?  
3           I have no further questions about this document.  Just 
4      wanted to get it into the record.  
5           Now I want to turn your attention to Employer's   
6      Exhibit 4-4.  If you look at the second page of that 
7      document, you will see that it is projected cost of 
8      Teamsters 117 final compensation position.  
9           Have you had a chance to look through this?  You've 

10      been here for every day of the hearing.  Right?
11 A    I have been here for every day of the hearing, yes.
12 Q    Now, is it fair to say that in a perfect world we would get 
13      everything on this list?
14 A    Absolutely.
15 Q    Now, if you had to prioritize, if you had decide what the 
16      most important things are, can you please go through that 
17      exercise, explain what the most important things are and 
18      why?
19 A    I would say, first and foremost, it would be the prison 
20      premium, the 10 percent increase above the general salary 
21      schedule.  
22           Do you want me to tell why?  
23 Q    Yes.  Why is that most important?  Why not getting caught up 
24      on the comps or some of these, the COLA increase?  Why is    
25      the 10 percent prison premium the most important thing?
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1 A    This group of employees really is really unique when you 

2      look at the work they do in comparison to other State 

3      employees and there needs to be a recognition in that.  

4      We've heard a lot of testimony about the uniqueness.  We've 

5      heard that they're the highest user of L&I in State 

6      employees.  We've heard that they have higher PTSD rates 

7      because of the situations they find themselves; that they're 

8      on a constant state of alert.  

9           They're subjected to things that no other State 

10      employee is subjected to, and that doesn't stop with just 

11      the custody classification.  I think that's kind of an easy 

12      one to recognize, but when you look at support staff, 

13      medical, OA's, maintenance, most people don't contemplate 

14      that as a maintenance work.  I'll have a ten-offender work 

15      crew that I supervise without a custody staff present, or as 

16      an OA, that I'm in constant contact with offenders, whether 

17      that's working -- we had a lot of testimony about inside the 

18      wire and outside the wire.  So inside is the secure 

19      perimeter versus outside the secure perimeter.  

20           Well, in prison you can be outside the secure perimeter 

21      and still be responsible for supervising, say, an inmate 

22      porter that cleans your office, again, with no custody staff 

23      present.  Or you can work in a living unit where you're 

24      surrounded by offenders all day which subjects you to things 

25      that you wouldn't normally see as an OA for, say, Department 
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1      of Transportation and not subjected to things that you would 

2      see in DOT or DSHS.  

3           Just as recently as this morning while we were waiting 

4      for this hearing to begin, there was an office assistant at 

5      Stafford Creek that was sexually assaulted by an offender as 

6      she was going into work this morning.  So now she's spending 

7      the rest of the day talking to the sheriff's department and 

8      figuring out where to go from there.  

9 Q    That's, as we've heard, kind of unique to corrections.  

10           What about community corrections?  Is there a 

11      difference there?

12 A    There is a difference.  And I know there was some -- it 

13      seemed like there was an attempt to compare the work that 

14      community corrections officers do to the work that prison 

15      employees do.  And while I admit that the work they do is 

16      dangerous, it looks more like the work that a law 

17      enforcement officer does.  They are not 100 percent 

18      heightened alert, head on a swivel all day every day.

19                MR. LOWY:  I guess I would object as far that 

20      calls for speculation, mindframes of others.  

21                ARBITRATOR:  Given her position as head of the 

22      Corrections and Law Enforcement Division of the union, I'm 

23      going to treat that as an adequate foundation and allow you 

24      to inquire in detail on cross, if you want.  

25 A    So I say those things because community correction officers 



SWEDLOW (Michelle Woodrow, 8/25/14)                             

Dixie Cattell & Associates (360) 352-2506

15 (Pages 768 to 771)

Page 768

1      go and check on people who are being monitored by the 

2      community.  They go to residences.  They do the knock and 

3      talk.  You've probably heard that before, knock on the door, 

4      check on the offender.  They go back, do their paperwork.  

5      They can take a break, go have coffee, lunch.  

6           As a prison employee, and not just as a corrections 

7      officer or correctional sergeant, but as a prison employee, 

8      that does not happen.  You are high alert all day every day.  

9      There's not that, you know, off and on.  I'm engaged.  Now 

10      I'm not engaged.  It is 100 percent on.

11 Q    (By Mr. Swedlow)  So outside of the prison premium, that's 

12      certainly not the only thing the Union is proposing.  Right?

13 A    Correct.

14 Q    If you had to rank the next most important thing, where 

15      would you go and why?

16 A    The next thing that needs to occur is closing the gap 

17      between the comparables or making up the difference between 

18      the comparables.  These workers have suffered far too long.  

19      They've lost a lot over the last few years.  

20           And the stories that I hear from the members and how 

21      that has impacted them, people shouldn't have to 

22      contemplate, am I going to go to the doctor or have several 

23      members in their family ill and trying to make a decision on 

24      who is the sickest at this point in time because we can only 

25      afford to take one of our kids to the doctor.  Working 
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1      second jobs, applying for and receiving government 
2      assistance because their salaries are so low.  And then the 
3      added stress of that, on top of the stressful environment 
4      that they're living in, this problem needs to be corrected.
5 Q    So I'm going to take you off the -- I'm going to take you 
6      off the prioritization process for a minute here and ask you 
7      about the -- what we've been calling geo pay.  We had some 
8      testimony, I'm sure you were here for, about how it's a 
9      divisive issue.  Can you talk a little bit about that?

10 A    And you're right.  I should have talked about that when I 
11      was talking about the prison premium because that is part of 
12      correcting that problem.  
13           Again -- maybe not again.  I'm not sure if I said this.  
14      I go to all of the prisons across the state routinely and 
15      have the opportunity to visit with and talk with a lot of 
16      the members.  
17           And when that 2 and a half percent or 5 percent was 
18      enacted -- or implemented, it's been very divisive and not 
19      just divisive in the sense that Monroe gets it and Clallam 
20      Bay doesn't.  That's one part of the division.  
21           But even inside the walls of Monroe or inside Coyote 
22      Ridge or inside Walla Walla where you have correctional 
23      officers getting the 5 percent but maintenance staff not 
24      getting the 5 percent, which really plays into again, why 
25      the prison premium is the number one priority.         
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1           Since I've been -- since I've had this account, the 

2      Department of Corrections account, which is little over four 

3      years now, that has been a number one issue amongst our 

4      bargaining unit members, the inequity of someone getting 

5      paid more to do the same work.

6 Q    So I'm not going to ask you to prioritize every single one 

7      of the Union's proposals, but I am going to ask you about 

8      the healthcare-related ones, the two -- we just had 

9      testimony today on the $125 request for being on-call and 

10      earlier we had testimony from Michelle Alejo about the shift 

11      differential for LPN's, I think.  

12           Would you prioritize that on the same scale as the rest 

13      of the proposal, bargaining-unit-wide proposal?

14 A    To me, it's more of a stand-alone issue.  The LPN piece -- 

15      so you've got LPN's who frequently underfill for an RN  

16      position.  So if there's another RN that can supervise that 

17      LPN, the LPN can cover for an RN.  

18           What happens when that occurs on the weekend is so 

19      disparate because RN's get an addition $3 per hour shift 

20      premium for working on the weekends that currently LPN's do 

21      not have access to.  

22           So the Department will take an LPN on a Saturday, 

23      underfill an RN position with that LPN at about a $17 an 

24      hour savings.  That LPN will do the work of an RN and then 

25      doesn't even get the acknowledgement of working on a weekend 
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1      and being given the $3 per hour shift differential for the 

2      weekend work.

3 Q    Is it fair to say that the healthcare portion of the 

4      bargaining unit is a little different than the custody 

5      staff?

6 A    They are different.  

7 Q    Can you describe -- sort of explain that difference a little 

8      in some way?

9 A    So for one -- well, let me talk about how they're different.  

10      The midlevel providers, I think as Sandra kept saying, I'll 

11      refer to them as overtime exempt employees, so highly 

12      professional classification.  Rarely do they reach out to 

13      the Union for contract enforcement or grievances.  You know, 

14      we may do some midterm bargaining when there's a change in 

15      working conditions, but primarily they're self-sufficient.  

16      They're coming to work.  They're doing their job.  

17      Everything is going well.

18           What they have reached out to us for, and again, this 

19      is during my entire time with this account, is that inequity 

20      on the call pay.  You know, it's been a huge priority.  

21      We've introduced it, and at least in the last round of 

22      contract negotiations just prior to this, we've had members 

23      from those classifications like Sandra herself who have 

24      stepped up to be a shop steward.  We've had two other PA's 

25      step up to be shop stewards.  
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1           The primary reason for getting involved was around this 

2      issue, the inequities between them and the contract staff, 

3      as well as just the idea that $25 a day is sufficient for 

4      what sometimes may be six or seven hours' worth of work in 

5      the middle of the night when they're supposed to be sleeping 

6      and then followed by the expectation that you will still be 

7      here at 7:00 a.m. or 8:00 a.m. to work your normal shift.  

8                MR. SWEDLOW:  I do not have any further questions 

9      for you.  Thank you.  

10                ARBITRATOR:  Ready to go?  

11                MR. LOWY:  I apologize.  I think due to some 

12      statements, I need to do some fact checking real quick.  

13                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Off the record.

14                                     (Recessed at 11:38 a.m.)

15                                     (Reconvened at 11:53 a.m.)

16                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record after a couple 

17      minutes, turning to cross.

18                         CROSS EXAMINATION 

19 BY MR. LOWY:  

20 Q    Ms. Woodrow, you mentioned -- I think you used a term 

21      "underfill"?

22 A    Yes.

23 Q    What does that mean?  What does that term mean?

24 A    It means when you use a lower classification to fill vacancy 

25      for a higher classification.  And what I was referring to in 
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1      the scenario earlier was, you have an RN, let's say, that 

2      calls in sick for the day.  You would then fill that RN  

3      position with an LPN because they can do a certain amount of 

4      that work and that would be an underfill.

5 Q    And when you say they can do a certain amount of the work, 

6      you're in agreement that LPN's can do some work, but not all 

7      the work, of an RN?

8 A    I would say they could do the majority of the work.  There 

9      are a handful of things that they cannot do.

10 Q    And you would agree that an employee would need to work 

11      within the scope of their license?

12 A    Absolutely.

13 Q    There's been a lot of discussion throughout this hearing, 

14      and I think you've touched on it today as well, about this 

15      perceived threat.  Correct?

16 A    Give me a little bit more.

17 Q    You remember your testimony talking about that, correct, the 

18      perceived threat of law enforcement versus, let's say, 

19      corrections officers versus CCO's?

20 A    I don't know if I used the term "perceived threat."  I could 

21      have, but . . .  

22 Q    But I guess in the sense you were talking correctional 

23      officers or, I guess, prison staff are on all the time.  I 

24      think you were talking about law enforcement.  They have 

25      breaks.  They have lunch, coffee breaks where, I'm assuming, 
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1      they're down.  
2           Do you remember that testimony?
3 A    Yes.  Yes, I do.  I remember that testimony.
4 Q    But you would agree that like a police officer who comes up 
5      to a traffic stop doesn't know who he's pulling over and has 
6      to be on alert.  Correct?
7 A    Absolutely.
8 Q    And you would also agree, though, when police officers are 
9      on duty, they may be on break, like Lakewood found out, they 

10      also have to have an alertness of what's going on around 
11      them?
12 A    Depending where they're taking their break.
13 Q    So it depends.  Certain areas are safer than others?
14 A    I wouldn't say out in the community, but I would say if I go 
15      to the police station and go into the secure department and 
16      I'm taking my lunch break there, it's different.
17 Q    Do you know how often police who are on patrols go back to 
18      the police station to take their lunch back at the station?
19 A    They frequent the police station a lot of times, not just 
20      for lunch.  Reporting writing, research.
21 Q    But also if they're doing report writing out in the 
22      community, they also have to be on alert, such as SPD wasn't 
23      in 2009 as well.  Correct?
24 A    They have to be aware of their surroundings.  However, 
25      they're not surrounded by 240 felons at all times.
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1 Q    They're just surrounded by the community, whoever that's 
2      made out of?
3 A    Um-hmm -- yes.
4                MR. LOWY:  By the eyes of the arbitrator, I see he 
5      gets it.  I won't ask further about the population.  
6                ARBITRATOR:  Thank you.  
7                MR. LOWY:  I have no further questions.  
8                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.  Is there more?  
9                MR. SWEDLOW:  One very brief.  

10                        REDIRECT EXAMINATION
11 MR. SWEDLOW:  
12 Q    As director of Law Enforcement and Corrections, is it safe 
13      to assume that you represent not just corrections, but law 
14      enforcement as well?
15 A    Yes.
16 Q    And who do you represent in that capacity?  It's not 
17      corrections, but law enforcement?
18 A    The names of the departments?  
19 Q    Yeah, just as examples.  
20 A    So University of Washington Police Department, Pacific 
21      Police Department, Port of Seattle Police Department.  We 
22      also represent their -- a few 911 communications center, 
23      emergencies operations center, records personnel, forensic 
24      officers.
25 Q    So you have experience dealing with both law enforcement 
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1      personnel and corrections?
2 A    Yes.
3 Q    Is there a significant difference, in your opinion, in terms 
4      of the level of constant alertness between the two?
5 A    Absolutely, absolutely.
6                MR. SWEDLOW:  Nothing further.  
7                ARBITRATOR:  Anything more?  
8                MR. LOWY:  No.  No questions.  
9                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks, Michelle.  You're done.  

10                THE WITNESS:  Thank you.  
11                ARBITRATOR:  With that, I understand the Union 
12      rests?  
13                MR. SWEDLOW:  Union rests, subject to surrebuttal 
14      of rebuttal, should we go there.
15                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Off the record.
16                                     (Recessed 11:58 a.m.)
17                                     (Reconvened at 1:20 p.m.)
18                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record after lunch with 
19      Ms. Roberts recalled in the Agency's case on rebuttal and 
20      still under oath.  
21                         DIRECT EXAMINATION
22 BY MR. KLEIN: 
23 Q    Ms. Roberts, I'm going to hand you an exhibit that I'm 
24      hoping you can put in the book for me at 2-17.  
25 A    (Witness complies.)
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1 Q    Can you tell us what 2-17 is?
2 A    2-17 is a report from our data warehouse system that tells 
3      us the job classifications and the total count of employees 
4      in the total column on the left that are represented within 
5      the Federation within DOC.
6 Q    And was this pursuant to the request of the arbitrator who 
7      asked for that information?
8 A    Yes, sir.
9                ARBITRATOR:  Thank you very much.

10                THE WITNESS:  You're welcome.
11 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Next, hand you a document -- 
12                ARBITRATOR:  What's the FGCH letter?  
13                THE WITNESS:  The middle column there?  
14                ARBITRATOR:  Yes.
15                THE WITNESS:  That is the job class code that 
16      corresponds with the job title.  It's the number assigned by 
17      the State HR system that corresponds with the job title.  
18                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  So . . .
19                THE WITNESS:  I just realized the split isn't all 
20      that clear.  There's a little space between the total number 
21      and the job class code number.
22                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Thank you.  
23                THE WITNESS:  You're welcome.
24 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Handing you what will be marked as     
25      Exhibit 3 -- 2-18, did you go through and try to add some 
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1      additional information on to an exhibit that looked a lot 
2      like this from earlier?
3 A    I did.  This is the new and improved supervising job 
4      classifications -- or Teamsters represented supervising job 
5      classifications table.  The main difference you will see is 
6      on the left-hand side of the table.  There's a column now on 
7      the far left that says all in class supervised?  And so for 
8      each of the classifications where there are one or more 
9      supervisors in that class, the left-hand column will tell 

10      you at a glance if all of our employees in that 
11      classification supervise or not.  So, for example, 
12      administrative assistant 2, no to all supervise.  One of 16 
13      actually supervises.
14 Q    And could you go through and identify for us those 
15      classifications where the -- everybody in the classification 
16      supervises and the people they are supervising are also in 
17      the same class?
18 A    Series, class series?  
19 Q    Yes, class series.  Thank you.  
20 A    Yes, I can.  The first one you'll find is actually, I would 
21      say, about a third down the page.  It's the correctional 
22      record supervisor.  You can see on the left it says yes.  
23      Correctional record supervisor is highlighted in orange.  
24      The orange indicates that that particular job class 
25      supervises within the class series.  

Page 779

1           So --
2 Q    I think we already know about the corrections and custody 
3      officer 3, which are the sergeants.  
4 A    Yes.
5 Q    What's next?
6 A    Electronic supervisor, following that is electronics 
7      technician supervisor, then fiscal analyst 4.  And right 
8      toward the bottom of the first page, forms and record 
9      analyst 3.  And turning to the back of the first page -- 

10                MR. THAL:  I'm sorry.  Did you hit equipment -- 
11      equipment technician?  Never mind.  I'm sorry.  Go ahead.  
12 A    Then about halfway down, you'll see office support 
13      supervisor 1, followed by office support supervisor 2, then 
14      psychiatric social worker 4, secretary supervisor, then at 
15      the bottom of the page, there's sex offender treatment 
16      supervisor.  Then on the last page we have the stationary 
17      engineer 3 and the warehouse operator 4.
18 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  By providing this information, are you -- or 
19      do you mean to suggest that the State agrees with the 
20      Teamsters' proposal that these classifications should get a 
21      five range bump?
22 A    No.
23                ARBITRATOR:  Do you know what the number of the 
24      prior exhibit is?  
25                MR. KLEIN:  No.  But I'll bet I can find it pretty 
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1      quickly.  
2                MR. THAL:  Just want to note for the record, that 
3      mischaracterizes our position.  We are not asking for a five 
4      range bump.  We're asking for there to be a five range 
5      differential.
6                MR. KLEIN:  Thank you.  Agreed that that's what 
7      you want.  
8                MR. THAL:  What is the new exhibit number?  
9                ARBITRATOR:  2-18.  

10                MR. THAL:  Thank you.  
11                MR. KLEIN:  I don't know where it is.  It's 
12      hiding.
13                ARBITRATOR:  Off the record.
14                                     (Recessed at 1:27 p.m.)
15                                     (Reconvened at 1:28 p.m.)
16                MR. KLEIN:  How about 4-13?  Earlier we heard some 
17      testimony.
18                ARBITRATOR:  Hang on.  What was it?  4-13.
19                MR. KLEIN:  Just trying to make my hour-and-a-half 
20      deadline. 
21                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  
22 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  We've heard some testimony earlier about 
23      support staff personnel in this unit where, within a 
24      classification, some will work inside the secured perimeter 
25      and some will work outside the secured perimeter.  
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1           Are you familiar with that?
2 A    Yes.
3 Q    With regard to the selection of work assignments, is there 
4      any sort of a bid process that's contained in the contract?
5 A    There is.  In the Teamsters agreement, there is a bid   
6      article -- it's Article 19 -- that allows employees with 
7      permanent status to submit bids on other positions that are 
8      in the same job classification they have permanent status in 
9      or, for demotion purposes, have previously held status in, 

10      and they can submit those within their current employing 
11      institutions.
12 Q    So depending upon one's seniority, if one was in a place, 
13      whether it be outside and wanted to go in or inside and 
14      wanted to go out, this bid system would facilitate that 
15      process?
16 A    Yes, it can.
17 Q    I would like you to look at what will be marked as     
18      Exhibit 2-19.  Can you tell us what this is?
19 A    Yes.  When I testified previously and included information 
20      about the number of applicants who applied for different 
21      larger job classifications within our system, I was asked by 
22      the arbitrator if we had any numbers to indicate where 
23      people went forward in different steps of the process.  
24           And I actually inquired with our recruitment team and 
25      found out that they do do some tracking for the correctional 
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1      officer hiring process and manually input information into 

2      each step along the way.  

3           So you start on the left, total applications, and it 

4      moves through each step of our process for fiscal years 2013 

5      and 2014.  

6 Q    And I'm going to ask:  I think most of them are pretty 

7      consistent with what you described for us the other day.  I 

8      won't make you do all that again, but if you could tell us 

9      what facility clearance means.  

10 A    Facility clearance is a step where we run the background 

11      checks, the wants and warrants check, criminal history 

12      background check.  We refer to them as NCIC, WACIC, 

13      W-A-C-I-C.  Those are just the systems we use to run the 

14      checks.

15                ARBITRATOR:  VOE?  

16                THE WITNESS:  Verification of employment.

17                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.  

18 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Hand you --

19                ARBITRATOR:  Did we have a topic shift there along 

20      the way?  I thought I was going to get something bidding in 

21      and out between the wire, across the wire.

22                MR. KLEIN:  All I was going to say, do you have 

23      other questions you wanted to ask?  

24                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  I foolishly thought that that 

25      was going to be a preface to an exhibit that showed how 
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1      little evidence there was of people trying to bid outside 
2      from inside jobs.  Not true?  Wrong guess?  
3                MR. KLEIN:  You, indeed, guessed wrong.  
4                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Thanks.  
5 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  I'm going to hand you what will be put in 
6      the book as Exhibit 4-25.  
7                MR. KLEIN:  And, Mr. Arbitrator, I'll tell you, 
8      this was a document that was produced to us during the 
9      hearing.  It involves matches utilized for purposes of 

10      county data that we had some testimony about.  
11 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  In looking at this, is there anything that 
12      you saw in particular with regard to correctional industries 
13      supervisor?
14 A    Yeah.  What I found interesting with the correctional 
15      industries supervisor 2 is, in the counties where they 
16      indicated a match -- well, King County says corrections 
17      supervisor.  I'm not exactly sure what that indicates.  
18           The last three counties on the right side of the table 
19      indicate correctional sergeant.  That just struck me as odd 
20      because our correctional industries supervisors 2 may 
21      supervise lower level staff, but one of their really 
22      important functions is teaching a particular craft or trade 
23      to offenders because our correctional industries program 
24      essentially exists to teach offenders work skills, job 
25      skills.  So the match struck me as not really a match, just 
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1      based on what I know of job titles.
2 Q    And with regard to some of these others, such as, for 
3      instance, a support specialist 2, I'm under Clark County 
4      correction records tech 2, is there any way, from looking at 
5      this, you can tell whether that position is anything like or 
6      nothing like the correction records tech 2 we have?
7 A    I can't.  I noticed that the Snohomish County job has the 
8      word "records" in it, but that's about as close as I can 
9      get.

10 Q    Okay.  
11 A    It's annoying.  
12 Q    We had some testimony earlier about the community 
13      corrections officers -- go ahead.  I'm sorry.  Put that in 
14      your book.  
15 A    (Witness complies.)
16 Q    The community correction officers, did you get a chance to 
17      check on what their pay range is?
18 A    The community corrections officer 1 pay range is a 39 and 
19      the 2 is a 49.  So in our community corrections 
20      classifications, a community corrections officer 1 is 
21      similar to a correction officer 1 as far as it being an 
22      in-training classification, which means, if you don't have 
23      the experience needed, you can start at the 1 level and, 
24      after a year of experience and training, roll to a 2.  
25 Q    And there was some testimony earlier about correction 
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1      officers will sometimes move to the classification counselor 

2      and then from classification counselor to community 

3      corrections officer.  Do I have that right?

4 A    Yes, it happens.

5 Q    And with regard to the class -- when someone is moving, 

6      would they be moving into the CCO 1 or would they be going 

7      to the CO 2 or would it just depend on their background and 

8      what they've done?

9 A    It really would depend on their background and what they've 

10      done.  But if they're a classification counselor in the 

11      Prisons Division, they likely would go to a community 

12      corrections officer 2 or higher.  

13 Q    We had some testimony earlier about something called a 

14      personnel development plan.  I think the arbitrator had 

15      asked us what that was, and I said I didn't have a clue, but 

16      I would find somebody who did.  You're the lucky person.  

17      What is it?

18 A    I did think today was my lucky day.  It is performance 

19      expectations that are given to employees at usually the 

20      beginning of a new evaluation period and those expectations 

21      are related to the duties of their job.

22 Q    We had some testimony --

23                ARBITRATOR:  Hang on one second.

24                MR. KLEIN:  Yes.

25                ARBITRATOR:  Are these tailored to particular 
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1      employees or do they tend to be general for the supervisor 

2      will mimeo off ten copies of his or her performance 

3      expectations for this evaluation period and hand one to each 

4      of the employees he or she supervises?  

5                THE WITNESS:  My experience has been the latter.

6                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Thank you.  

7 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  During Mr. Marvy's testimony, he had some 

8      bullet items on his exhibit.  I won't ask you to go back and 

9      look at them, but can you talk to us about the processes 

10      you've utilized within DOC to try to improve the hiring 

11      process and reduce the days open?

12 A    Sure.  I think probably one of the most significant changes 

13      made in the Department was the creation of the recruitment 

14      team in human resources.  It's a statewide recruitment team 

15      that was originally created in about 2008 with a focus on, 

16      at that time, correctional officer hiring as well as nurses 

17      and then some other hard-to-fill specialty classifications, 

18      which often you find in the health services arena.  

19           So that team was originally built in about 2008.  It 

20      did grow, added positions.  In 2010, when we had the across- 

21      the-board reductions under the governor's executive order, 

22      that team got reduced down to just a small handful of 

23      employees, focusing still on corrections officers and nurses 

24      primarily, hard to fill, just a much smaller team.  We have 

25      been able to grow it a little bit more over the last couple 
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1      years, but it's not the size that it used to be.  So to me 

2      that's one of the most significant things the agency did.  

3           We also did some value stream mapping events with our 

4      hiring processes.  So we took a look at currently what the 

5      hiring process entails, see how we could streamline it, 

6      improve it, and reduce the number of days it takes to hire 

7      because at its peak it took us -- it could take anywhere 

8      from 90 to 110 days to hire a corrections officer.  So just 

9      monitoring the time frames and continual improvement, I 

10      think our average is down to between 75 and 80 days for the 

11      whole process, so pretty significant improvement.  

12                ARBITRATOR:  I'm not sure I've heard the term 

13      "value stream mapping," but my guess would be the human 

14      resource equivalent of critical flow analysis in 

15      engineering?  What can we make happen simultaneously rather 

16      than in series in order to optimizing the size of the 

17      overall process -- the length of the overall process?  

18                THE WITNESS:  Yes.  It's a lean term.  Just map 

19      the whole process and figure out where we have dead time and 

20      how to get rid of it.

21                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Thank you.  

22                THE WITNESS:  Um-hmm.

23 A    We also -- 

24 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Sorry.  Go ahead.  

25 A    We also went through efforts to reduce -- "we" being the 
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1      Health Services Division within the agency went through 

2      efforts to reduce the use of contract staff.  Really big 

3      push for that started in 2009 and they made a significant 

4      reduction in, you know, the number of contractors and 

5      contractor hours used to fill holes.  And then just ongoing 

6      use of different outreach efforts.  

7 Q    Mr. Marvy also suggested that the DOC has a higher rate of 

8      employees transferring into other State agencies than 

9      elsewhere at the State.  Is that consistent or inconsistent 

10      with what you've found?

11 A    I would say it's inconsistent.  The bulk of our employees 

12      are corrections officers.  And because corrections officers 

13      is a DOC unique job classification, along with the other 

14      handful of Department of Corrections unique job classes that 

15      we have, a transfer to another agency is not something 

16      that's common because there's not an equivalent job to 

17      transfer to.

18 Q    I think I recall back to your testimony from several days 

19      ago that you worked at Stafford at one time?

20 A    I did.

21 Q    And can you remind me what you were doing there?

22 A    Well, I testified about working in the human resources 

23      office there as a human resources manager and consultant.  I 

24      also was a human resource consultant assistant prior to 

25      that.  And before I got into the human resources office, 

Page 789

1      there at Stafford, I held two different secretary positions.  

2      One was a secretary senior and the other was a secretary 

3      administrative.

4 Q    And when you were a secretary senior and a secretary 

5      administrative, were you working inside or outside of the 

6      secured perimeter?

7 A    I was inside the secure perimeter in what we call the inside 

8      administration building.

9 Q    And when you were working in the inside administration 

10      building, did you -- would you agree with the description we 

11      heard earlier this morning, that you were on high alert all 

12      the time?

13 A    No.

14 Q    Why not?

15 A    Well, in the inside administration building, we are inside 

16      the secure perimeter.  My job duties did require me to go 

17      inside the -- farther inside the institution on a fairly 

18      regular basis.  So, of course, you know, going farther 

19      inside where offenders frequent the area more often 

20      definitely heightened alertness.  

21           Inside my office though, it's primarily office staff or 

22      other DOC employees.  We did have offender porters who would 

23      come in.  There was usually a correctional officer in the 

24      building with them when they came.  And they would, you 

25      know, do garbage, clean areas, and stuff like that.  
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1           So definitely a difference in -- I don't know if the 
2      level of alertness is the right term, but definitely a 
3      difference in your feeling, so to speak, when you're 
4      performing your duties.  By myself in the middle of the day 
5      during count, I know there's no offenders around.  It's just 
6      different.
7 Q    It just depends?
8 A    It just depends, yes, sir.
9                MR. KLEIN:  I have nothing further.  Thank you.  

10                ARBITRATOR:  Cross?  
11                MR. THAL:  Yeah.
12                         CROSS EXAMINATION
13 BY MR. THAL:
14 Q    Prior to you taking that position, did you undergo the 
15      Department's core training?
16 A    I did not.
17 Q    And is that because it wasn't in existence at that time for 
18      that classification?
19 A    It was in existence, but the rules around how quickly we get 
20      employees into weren't.  They weren't as tight when I got 
21      hired into that position and the facility was just opening, 
22      so we sort of had a lag in getting in.
23 Q    Did you eventually come to take the training?
24 A    No.
25 Q    So let's focus on this document, which is 2-18 maybe.  It's 
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1      2-17, I guess.  2-17.  
2 A    2-17, yes.  
3 Q    So as I understand it, this is the list of Federation 
4      represented employees in the Department of Corrections.  
5      Right?
6 A    Yes.
7 Q    And if we total up the column on the left, which is the 
8      number of incumbents in each classification, we'll come to 
9      the total number of Federation represented employees which, 

10      I'll tell you -- I did the math -- it came out to 1,039, 
11      which is about where you had your earlier exhibit of 
12      Federation represented employees.  
13 A    Yes.
14 Q    And this is the group that, just in these negotiations, 
15      received the 1.3 percent that they previously did not have.  
16      Correct?
17 A    I don't know.  I wasn't at that table.
18 Q    We heard testimony about that earlier?  No.  
19 A    I do recall testimony, but I don't recall the detail -- 
20 Q    Okay.  
21 A    -- of which classes got the 1.3.
22 Q    I see.  So it wouldn't have been the whole group, you don't 
23      think?  You don't think it wasn't the whole bargaining unit?
24 A    I don't believe so.
25                MR. THAL:  We might want to clarify that.
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1                MR. KLEIN:  It's in the record as the corrections 
2      specific unit.
3                MR. THAL:  That's this unit, though.
4                ARBITRATOR:  Off the record.
5                                     (Recessed at 1:48 p.m.)
6                                     (Reconvened at 1:48 p.m.)
7                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record.  
8           Say it again, Otto.
9                MR. KLEIN:  The 1.3 percent applies only to the 

10      corrections unique classifications in the Federation 
11      bargaining unit in DOC.  
12                MR. THAL:  And that, we can find on Exhibit 2-8.
13                MR. KLEIN:  Actually, I can do you one better, if 
14      you want to wait just a minute.  If you go to Exhibit 4-24.
15                MR. THAL:  Oh.  So it's different than 2-8.  So 
16      you're saying that it was not granted to the CCO's?  
17                MR. KLEIN:  They're on the -- the CCO's are on the 
18      list.
19                MR. THAL:  I know, but those are what we would 
20      call CO's.  So it's not the community correction officers 
21      didn't get it?  
22                MR. KLEIN:  We'll find it.
23                MR. THAL:  Get the clarity on that later.
24                MR. KLEIN:  We'll find out.  
25 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  So back to Exhibit 2-17, that's what this is.  
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1      Right?  Yeah.  
2 A    Yes.
3 Q    Community corrections officer 2, range 49, do we agree -- 
4 A    Yes.
5 Q    -- that was your testimony?  
6           And the corresponding classification, to the extent 
7      there is one, the corrections officer, the most populated 
8      class in the 117 group, the correction officer is at       
9      range 43.  Right?

10 A    Yes.
11 Q    So totally different jobs?
12 A    Yes.
13 Q    And the community corrections officer 3 is at 51.  Correct?
14 A    I believe so.
15 Q    And the CO 3 or a sergeant is at 47 in the 117 group.  
16      Right?
17 A    Yes.
18 Q    Again, totally different jobs?
19 A    Yes.
20 Q    2-18, this is your color chart on the supervisory classes.  
21 A    Okay.
22 Q    So let's start at the top with administrative assistant 1.  
23      That one is white, and on the left, there is nothing in the 
24      all in class supervised.  Does that mean that no one 
25      supervises?
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1 A    Correct.
2 Q    So, for example, the automotive mechanic supervisor and the 
3      carpenter supervisor 1 do not supervise?
4 A    Correct.
5 Q    So anywhere where I see a white line with nothing on the 
6      left column, even if it has the word "supervisor" in the job 
7      title, they are not supervising.  None of them are?
8 A    Right.  Everything in white, they're not supervising other 
9      employees.

10 Q    Yeah.  That is to say, every incumbent in the automotive 
11      mechanic supervisor classification is not supervising 
12      employees?
13 A    Correct.
14                ARBITRATOR:  Well, hang on just a second because I 
15      understood the exhibit a little bit more narrowly than that.  
16      I understood it to be showing those supervisory employees 
17      who were supervising other employees in the same 
18      classification series.  
19                THE WITNESS:  That is indicated by orange.
20                MR. THAL:  Yeah.  We're going to get there.
21                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.
22 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  But I just wanted to make sure I understood 
23      the white and that you understand the white because the 
24      reason you'll see supervisor in the title is because, even 
25      though they aren't supervising employees, they might be 
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1      supervising a crew of inmates.  Right?
2 A    Yes.
3 Q    And in fact, with the automotive mechanic supervisor, the 
4      reason why it says supervisor, but they aren't supervising 
5      employees, is because the automotive mechanic supervisor is 
6      supervising inmates.  Right?
7 A    That would be my educated presumption, yes.
8 Q    So now let's go to green.  
9 A    Okay.

10 Q    So what does the color green signify?
11 A    The color green signifies that there are one or more 
12      employees in that classification who supervise other 
13      employees, period -- 
14 Q    Right.  
15 A    -- but not necessarily in the same job classification 
16      series.
17 Q    And we have it in the notes here that it's 1 of the 16 
18      administrative assistant 2's.  And in this particular case, 
19      if we look over to the right, they're actually supervising 
20      an OA 3, i.e., someone out of series?
21 A    Yes.
22 Q    Got it.  
23           Now orange, with orange, they are actually supervising 
24      one or more in series.  Right?
25 A    Right.
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1 Q    Although what's interesting here, on the administrative 
2      assistant 3, is, you've noted that six out of 24 supervise, 
3      but of those six, they're spread out with some in series, 
4      for example, the AA 2, and some out of series, secretary 
5      senior and OA 3.  Do I have it right?
6 A    You have it absolutely right.
7 Q    So then let me tell you the one that caught me as weird is 
8      the food service manager 2 because you have all food service 
9      manager 1's supervising.  Right?

10 A    Right.  There's only one, but yes.
11 Q    But food service manager 2's are just food service 
12      supervisors above the FSM 1's, aren't they, and above cooks?
13 A    For us, we don't have -- in the report that I got, we didn't 
14      have any food service manager's -- sorry.  We did not have 
15      any food service manager 2's supervising a 1, but we did 
16      have two of them who supervised the cook AC level.  It just 
17      really depends on how the kitchen is comprised at each 
18      facility.
19 Q    So what would the other three food service manager 2's be 
20      doing?  The actual cooking?
21 A    I honestly couldn't tell you.  I don't know.
22 Q    I'm ready to move on.  Let's go to Exhibit 2-19.  Do I 
23      understand from this document correctly in 2013 this refers 
24      to calendar year, not fiscal year, I assume?
25 A    I believe you're correct.  I think I said fiscal year 
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1      earlier.  My apologies.  It is calendar year.
2 Q    I assume so because 2014 says to date -- 
3 A    Yes.
4 Q    -- which would indicate a calendar year rather than a 
5      fiscal.  Right?
6 A    Yes.  Thank you for pointing that out.
7 Q    So in 2013, am I correct in understanding that DOC then 
8      hired 324 CO's after making it through this process?
9 A    Yes, according to this.

10 Q    And that so far in 2014 DOC has hired 399 CO's?
11 A    Yes.  
12 Q    Let's go to Exhibit 2.  
13                MR. THAL:  What is this?  This is 2-20?  
14                THE WITNESS:  I think it was 4 something.  
15                MR. THAL:  Just to throw us off here.  4-21 maybe.
16                MR. KLEIN:  I think it's later than that.  I think 
17      it's 4-25.  
18                MR. THAL:  Okay.  
19 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  4-25, so first of all, did you prepare this 
20      document?
21 A    No.
22 Q    Do you know who prepared the document?
23                MR. KLEIN:  It was produced to us by your expert, 
24      one of your experts.  
25                MR. THAL:  Okay.  It was from the data.
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1                MR. KLEIN:  Yes.  It was on that.
2                MR. THAL:  I got you.  
3 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  So did I understand your testimony that you 
4      felt that the CIS 2 position that we see under Washington 
5      State Corrections is not a fair match to, did you say, King 
6      on the corrections supervisor?
7                MR. KLEIN:  She said corrections sergeant.
8 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  Corrections sergeant on like Thurston, Walla 
9      Walla, and Yakima?

10 A    Yeah, based on the job title.
11 Q    Based on the job title and based on what you know about the 
12      CIS 2 position, I think you testified, because you testified 
13      that the CIS 2 actually teaches inmates a craft or trade.  
14      That's what I had in my notes anyway.  Is that right?
15 A    Yes, yes.  Generally, they do.
16 Q    And I assume you don't have knowledge one way or the other 
17      about the duties of the corrections sergeant at the county 
18      facilities?
19 A    No, I do not.
20 Q    And I think that's what you were saying about the CRT 2 
21      position as well, isn't it, that you were not sure whether 
22      that was a match with records tech in Snohomish County.  
23 A    Right.  Purely based on the job title, um-hmm.
24 Q    If I understand your testimony, you just aren't able to say 
25      one way or another whether those two positions are a match.  
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1      Did I get that right?
2 A    Yes.
3 Q    Lastly the arbitrator asked us to try and get to some 
4      clarity about which positions are overtime exempt and, 
5      therefore, would be subject to the Union's proposal related 
6      to the range in the on-call from $25 to $125, if those 
7      classifications are, in fact, called upon to be placed on 
8      call.  Do you recall that?
9 A    I do.

10                MR. THAL:  So, Mr. Arbitrator, we have a 
11      handwritten list here of classifications that would be -- 
12      that are overtime exempt and, therefore, if they're placed 
13      on call, would be subject to the Union's proposal.  
14      Although, as a practical matter, there are probably only a 
15      few of them that are actually placed on call.  We could go 
16      through that on the record, if you like, or we could maybe 
17      try and write something up.
18                ARBITRATOR:  We can do it on the record.  Give me 
19      just a second.  
20 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  To make this easier, when he's ready, let's 
21      use Exhibit 2-7.  
22                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.
23                MR. THAL:  So using 2-7, we're going to identify 
24      for you all of the positions that are overtime exempt, but 
25      it may be just -- maybe after we do that we can clarify 
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1      which ones are more likely to be on-call.  
2           So the first one you're going to see is called chief 
3      engineer.  That's 602 N, like November, and, Angela, you'll 
4      stop me if I say anything stupid.
5                ARBITRATOR:  Chief engineer.
6                MR. THAL:  Chief engineer is overtime exempt 
7      position.  Then down second from the bottom on the first 
8      page, the fiscal analyst 4, the 143L, is an overtime exempt 
9      position.  

10           Then if you flip the page, we go to laboratory 
11      technician 2.  I'm not sure where there are two lines for, 
12      but the 510H is an overtime exempt position, as are both 
13      library and archival professional positions, the 1 and the 
14      2.  That's 261A and 261B.  And then you get to office 
15      support supervisor 2 with the job class code of 100M, like 
16      Mary.  
17           Now, all of those that we've named so far, I think it's 
18      pretty unlucky you're going to find them being placed on 
19      call.  I don't know that for a fact.  But what we were 
20      primarily focused on here were the -- then the following 
21      healthcare positions.  And that starts with the physician 
22      assistant certified, advanced RN practical lead 291F.  And 
23      the witness that you had earlier was in that classification, 
24      Ms. Conner.  
25           And then -- sorry.  Backing up, we have a pharmacist 2 
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1      at 295F.  And then -- 
2                ARBITRATOR:  Hang on.  
3                MR. THAL:  And then the last one on that page, 
4      psychiatric social worker 3 all the way through psychology 
5      associates on the next page, all six of those 
6      classifications are overtime exempt, so that's psychiatric 
7      social worker 3, psychiatric social worker 4, psychiatrist 
8      4, psychologist 3, psychologist 4, and psychology associate.  
9                THE WITNESS:  I just realized I missed one too.  

10      Back on the first page, chaplain.  Sorry.  They're also 
11      overtime exempt, 363I.  
12                MR. THAL:  And if we're done with that exercise, I 
13      have no further questions.  
14                ARBITRATOR:  Registered nurses are not?  
15                THE WITNESS:  No.
16                MR. THAL:  They are overtime eligible.
17                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  
18                        REDIRECT EXAMINATION
19 BY MR. KLEIN:  
20 Q    Ms. Roberts, did you also gather for me the class specs 
21      for a bunch of the different positions in corrections that 
22      we've been talking about?
23 A    Yes, sir.
24 Q    And I'm going to hand you a document which will be 2-20.  I 
25      don't intend to ask you any more questions about this, just 
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1      have you identify that's what it is.  
2 A    That is what we have here.  
3                MR. KLEIN:  I have nothing further.  
4                ARBITRATOR:  Hang on just a second.  Let me catch 
5      up here.  
6                THE WITNESS:  There's an extra page here.
7                MR. KLEIN:  How did I do that?  Did I put that in 
8      all of them?  
9                THE WITNESS:  It looks like it.  

10                THE WITNESS:  2-20.
11                MR. KLEIN:  Did you hear that?  The last page 
12      should go to the middle of the table and we'll have a group 
13      something or other with it.  
14                ARBITRATOR:  Are these the indicative 
15      classifications also for purposes of the DOC's comparability 
16      study?  
17                MR. KLEIN:  Yes.  
18                ARBITRATOR:  Benchmark.  
19                MR. KLEIN:  We also thought it would be useful, 
20      since we've had lots of discussions about different 
21      positions, to fill in the record on that.  
22                ARBITRATOR:  Anything more on cross?  
23                MR. THAL:  No.  Not for -- not on cross, not for 
24      this witness.  
25                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks again.
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1                THE WITNESS:  Thank you.  
2                MR. KLEIN:  I will turn the table over to 
3      Mr. Lowy.  
4                MR. LOWY:  Can we go off the record for just a 
5      moment?  
6                ARBITRATOR:  Off the record.
7                                     (Recessed at 2:07 p.m.)
8                                     (Reconvened at 2:13 p.m.)
9                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record after a couple 

10      minutes' pause.  I need to get you to stand up and raise 
11      your right hand.
12      
13 DR. DAVID BONAUTO,          having been first duly sworn,
14                             testified as follows:  
15           
16                ARBITRATOR:  Please spell your name for us.
17                THE WITNESS:  Sure.  My name is David Bonauto, 
18      D-a-v-i-d.  Last name is Bonauto, B-o-n-a-u-t-o.
19                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.
20                         DIRECT EXAMINATION
21 BY MR. LOWY: 
22 Q    And, Dr. Bonauto, good afternoon.  Where do you work?  
23 A    Washington State Department of Labor and Industries.
24 Q    What do you do?
25 A    The research director for the Safety and Health Assessment 
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1      and Research for Prevention Program.
2 Q    And is that known as a SHARP program, for short?

3 A    Yes.
4 Q    And can you please tell us what your duties are?

5 A    I lead a team of about 24 researchers, and our goal is the 
6      primary prevention of workplace injury and illness.  We do 
7      work tracking occupational injuries, identifying the causes 
8      of those injuries, and then try to prevent them.
9 Q    And if you can just briefly turn to Exhibit 4-26, and is 

10      that your updated CV?

11 A    Yes.
12 Q    And can you just -- I won't make you go through the whole 

13      thing.  Can you briefly give the arbitrator your educational 

14      background?

15 A    Sure.  I went to college at Bowdoin College in Brunswick, 
16      Maine.  I went to medical school at Columbia University in 
17      New York City and then did public health training with a 
18      master's degree of public health at the University of 
19      Washington.
20 Q    And do you currently hold a faculty position?

21 A    Yes, I do.
22 Q    And where at?

23 A    The University of Washington.  I'm an associate professor in 
24      the Department of Environmental, Occupational, and Health 
25      Sciences.
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1 Q    You've had other faculty positions as outlined in your CV?

2 A    Yes.

3 Q    If I can have you turn then to Exhibit 4-27.  

4 A    (Witness complies.)

5 Q    And if we can just actually look at the title, Compensable 

6      Violent Rates, is that something that L&I SHARP program 

7      looks at?  We'll get into more detail what it is, but is 

8      that something you're familiar with, with that term?

9 A    Yes.

10 Q    If we can turn the page to slide 2.  

11 A    (Witness complies.)

12 Q    And does slide 2 reflect how -- when I say "L&I," I mean 

13      Labor and Industries.  Does that show the steps of how Labor 

14      and Industry claims come in, or one of the procedures?

15 A    Let me expand.

16 Q    If you can expand maybe.  

17 A    Department of Labor and Industries is an exclusive provider 

18      of Workers' Compensation insurance in Washington State to 

19      all employers, except those who decide to self-insure.  

20      There's certain requirements for self-insurance.  

21           In this situation, we're talking about DSHS and 

22      Department of Corrections.  The Washington State Fund, which 

23      is the insurance agency for the State, is actually the 

24      Workers' Comp insurance provider.

25           The data basically regarding all Workers' Comp claims 
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1      either initiated by healthcare provider or worker are common 

2      to the Washington State Fund and then are processed and 

3      benefits are provided, or not, depending upon meeting 

4      criteria for acceptance of a claim.  

5           So this is actually at a place where an L&I claim comes 

6      in.  It's either accepted or denied for benefits.

7 Q    And then once it is accepted into benefits, it's -- it can 

8      be broken down into two separate categories?

9 A    Correct.

10 Q    And that's laid out in page 3?

11 A    Yes.

12 Q    And there's a brief definition of medical claims, but on one 

13      level, medical claims kind of sound obvious, but what are 

14      medical claims?  Is it just simply claims that only pay for 

15      medical or is there a little bit more to that?

16 A    Basically, when the benefits that are provided for Workers' 

17      Comp insurance claim are just medical bills, that's 

18      considered a medical-only claim.  And then there's a 

19      separate category of claims which are called compensable  

20      claims.  We group those by whether or not time-loss benefits 

21      are paid, and there are certain criteria to actually receive 

22      time-loss benefits:  whether or not there's a loss of 

23      earning potential, whether or not there's a death, or 

24      disability payments.

25 Q    And for compensable claims to -- hopefully I'm using the 
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1      right terminology -- but to kind of kick in, you need to at 

2      least be off work for four or more days, correct, or three?

3 A    I think it's the way most people generally think of it.  

4      Basically there's a three-day waiting period before you 

5      become eligible for Workers' Comp payments.  That three-day 

6      waiting period is a basically calendar day determination, 

7      and then on the fourth day, if you're off from work, 

8      basically that's the first day in which you get paid for 

9      time loss.  So shorthand, four or more days off of work.

10 Q    And then if you wanted to, those claims then can be 

11      specifically looked at by the accident types and look at 

12      different categories.  Correct?

13 A    Correct.  When the Workers' Compensation claim comes in, 

14      there's a portion that's filled out by the worker that 

15      describes the injury, and the healthcare provider fills out 

16      another portion.  

17           That information is looked and then coded according to 

18      a classification system called the Occupational Injury and 

19      Illness Classification System.  It's a standardized system 

20      that's used by the Bureau of Labor Statistics in terms of 

21      their ability to describe workplace injuries and illness for 

22      their data systems.

23 Q    If we can turn the page to page 4.  

24 A    (Witness complies.)

25 Q    And that's the slide titled, Washington DOC's 2003 to 2013 
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1      Claims per 10,000 FTE's?

2 A    Yes.

3 Q    It says claims accepted, 837.0.  Correct?  

4 A    Sure.

5 Q    But that's not -- that's a rate per 10,000?

6 A    Correct.

7 Q    Why do we put things -- we would put it in a rate per X  

8      FTE's?

9 A    So that you can compare across, say, different size 

10      populations in terms of an injury rate.

11 Q    Is that essentially a standardized rate?

12 A    More or less.  You're trying to -- it would be like trying 

13      to compare a Prius versus a Chevy Tahoe in terms of miles 

14      per gallon.  You want to basically come up to sort of 

15      something where you're looking at the same usage of gas, so 

16      it would be like one gallon.  This is basically 10,000 

17      FTE's.

18 Q    So for the top part of the slide, for the claims accepted 

19      medical aid only, what information does that tell us?

20 A    So this says, during the period of 2003 to 2013, for medical 

21      aid only claims, there were 547.6 medical aid only claims 

22      per 10,000 FTE.  So it's a medical-only claim rate.  

23           And then for compensable claims, you would say there's 

24      289.4 compensable claims per 10,000 FTE rate.

25 Q    And then from that, are you able to look at the categories 
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1      that are classified as violence claims?

2 A    Yes.

3 Q    And that shows you the number below is the accepted number.  

4      Then it's also broken up in medical aid and compensable?

5 A    Correct.

6 Q    What does that 29.3 number tell you?

7 A    It says that the rate is 29.3 compensable claims per 10,000 

8      FTE's for basically workplace violence.

9 Q    And if you were going -- how did that -- how do you come up 

10      with that number mathematically?  What's the equation 

11      process, methodology to get to that number?

12 A    You take the number of compensable claims and you divide it 

13      by the number of FTE and you multiply it by 10,000.

14 Q    And for the rate of FTE's, you use the number of 2,000?

15 A    Okay.  Step back.  So the data that comes into the 

16      Washington State Department of Labor and Industries premium 

17      is paid by hours, hours worked.  So each account, the hours 

18      are totaled, number of claims are totaled.  

19           And now hours is sort of an unwieldy thing and FTE, the 

20      standard way of calculating, is, you take the hours and you 

21      divide by 2,000 and that gives you the number of FTE's.  So 

22      the hours come in.  We calculate the FTE's by just dividing 

23      by 2,000 and that gets used for the denominator of the rate.

24 Q    And then why do you multiply by 10,000?

25 A    Well, the number would be tiny.  So let's take 29.3 and say 
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1      you were to just change that to be the rate per 100.  All 
2      you're doing is moving a decimal point over.  So it would be 
3      .293 compensable per 100.  And then -- so it just becomes 
4      easier to understand that number.  And it's a convention, 
5      within injury and illness reporting, for occupational 
6      injury/illness by the Bureau of Labor Statistics to express 
7      rates per 10,000 FTE.
8 Q    And then there's a statistic that says 8 percent of DOC 
9      accepted compensable claims occur from injuries that took 

10      place in training?
11 A    Correct.
12 Q    Can you speak to that rate or how that was determined?
13 A    The injury narrative is provided by the worker, and it 
14      describes how the injury occurred, and they said that it was 
15      in training injury.
16 Q    If we can go to slide No. 5, please.  
17 A    (Witness complies.)
18 Q    So before we start, what is the Washington State Fund 
19      Government?
20 A    Washington State Fund is the name of the Workers' Comp 
21      insurance system that's run by our state, excludes 
22      self-insurance.  Government basically is government as an 
23      industry.
24 Q    And what kind of organizations would be included in that 
25      Washington State Fund, if you know?
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1 A    Washington State Fund Government would be most State 

2      government agencies are insured through the State Workers' 

3      Comp system, the State fund.  So that would include places 

4      like the Department of Personnel, Enterprise Services, most 

5      State agencies.

6 Q    Okay.  

7 A    Attorney General's office.

8 Q    And in the number -- there's a number 17.8, but that figure 

9      is exclusive of DSHS and DOC?

10 A    Yes.

11 Q    That essentially means you just took those numbers for DOC 

12      and DSHS and took them out of it?

13 A    Take all the violence claims and all the hours out of the 

14      calculation.

15 Q    And how did you arrive to the number 17.8?  Was it the same 

16      methodology to get that as you described -- 

17 A    Yes.

18 Q    -- just previously?

19 A    Yes.

20 Q    And how about for DSHS?  Same methodology?

21 A    Yes.

22 Q    So what does this chart tell us?

23 A    It give us a comparison of the compensable claim rates 

24      between these groups of Workers' Comp accounts.

25 Q    And for the claims per 10,000 FTE's?
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1 A    Correct.

2 Q    If we can turn the slide to page 6.  

3                ARBITRATOR:  Can I ask you a question before you 

4      depart from 5?  

5                THE WITNESS:  Sure.

6                ARBITRATOR:  Do you have any idea whether the 

7      respective rates for medical claims would exhibit roughly 

8      the same proportionality?  

9                THE WITNESS:  It should, yes.  I do have those 

10      numbers.  Not available to me right now.  

11                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Thanks.  

12 Q    (By Mr. Lowy)  And what does this slide show?

13 A    So State agencies are very large, so this is breaking it 

14      down by individual accounts.  And both DSHS and Department 

15      of Corrections have multiple different accounts, so these 

16      are individual facilities in the DSHS sort of overall 

17      account, as well as Department of Corrections overall 

18      account.  And these are, again, compensable claim rates for 

19      workplace violence in these different facilities.

20 Q    I know you weren't here previous, but, you know, we heard 

21      testimony that says, well, you know, this place is more 

22      violent than this place.  I've seen more assaults.  Can you 

23      really compare just facilities of either different 

24      industries just looking at the raw numbers or do you have    

25      to -- do you need to do this kind of rate to be able to 
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1      compare them?

2 A    Looking at just the number would be the enumerator of the 

3      equation.  You basically, in order to compare a rate, you 

4      have to have both the number of injuries as well as the 

5      number of exposed.

6 Q    And this shows the top six facilities for DSHS versus the 

7      top six -- I guess the top six facilities with the highest 

8      rate of compensable violence rate for DOC and DSHS?

9 A    Yes.

10 Q    And what is that -- what does it tell us when you're looking 

11      at it?  What does the numbers tell you?

12 A    Well, that there's varying rates within these individual 

13      accounts, both within DSHS and DOC, and then you can compare 

14      each of these facility's individual rates to other facility 

15      individual rates.

16 Q    And then do you simply -- can you simply compare then -- so 

17      if you look at the highest facility for DOC, it's Washington 

18      Correction Center with 85.5 versus DSHS's highest facility, 

19      which is Frances Haddon Morgan Center.  You simply can say, 

20      well, this facility has X times more violence compensable 

21      claim rate than this facility?

22 A    Yes.

23 Q    You can just -- right next to each other?

24 A    Yes.

25 Q    And then -- 
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1                ARBITRATOR:  Just to make things go quickly, I 
2      propose to take notice from the Web of what these various 
3      facilities do, where they are, et cetera.  
4                MR. LOWY:  Sure.  
5                MR. SWEDLOW:  Fine.
6                ARBITRATOR:  I don't want to go through and 
7      identify each of these institutions and what business it's 
8      in.
9                MR. LOWY:  Sure.  Thank you.

10 Q    (By Mr. Lowy)  Can I have you turn to the last slide?
11 A    (Witness complies.)
12 Q    What does this slide tell us?
13 A    So the methods of acquiring the data, basically we're 
14      consistently across accounts and within the entire system.  
15      So as I said, the Workers' Compensation claim comes in.  
16      There's information from the worker.  There's information 
17      from the healthcare provider.  That is coded according to 
18      the standard classification.  That's the occupational 
19      injury/illness classification system.  There's different 
20      groups of codes.  
21           So one sort of describes the nature of the injury, like 
22      an amputation or a fracture.  Another is -- actually 
23      describes how the injury occurred, the injury event or 
24      injury type; in other words, the body part injured.  And 
25      another is the source.  
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1           So these actually are what we call type codes and it's 
2      describing the event that causes the injury.  So these 
3      were -- these are basically the way in which we approach 
4      looking at workplace assaults and violence claims.  So these 
5      are the specific injury type codes that are used to identify 
6      those claims.
7 Q    And I'm assuming, even though you have this list, you might 
8      have more, some of them, under medical claims only versus 
9      violent compensable claims?

10 A    Every claim that comes in to the Washington State Fund is 
11      basically category with this injury and illness 
12      classification system.
13                MR. LOWY:  Okay.  I have no further questions.  
14                ARBITRATOR:  A venomous bite doesn't count?  
15                THE WITNESS:  Doesn't count?  
16                ARBITRATOR:  It specifically says nonvenomous 
17      bites, but I don't see it -- 
18                THE WITNESS:  It's a standardized chart.  That 
19      generally -- 
20                ARBITRATOR:  Probably comes -- 
21                THE WITNESS:  It's a toxic relationship, sir.  
22                ARBITRATOR:  Comes from the Feds.  Can you tell me 
23      what NEC is, please?  
24                THE WITNESS:  Not elsewhere classified.  So, you 
25      know, the system doesn't allow sometimes very specific 
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1      descriptions for certain types of events, so they say it's 
2      not elsewhere classified.  Or just to expand, there's 
3      unspecified where there's not enough information to 
4      categorize it as well.  So it also classifies it under 
5      something that we can try to do.  Unclassified says there's 
6      not enough information.
7                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.  
8           Ready?  
9                MR. SWEDLOW:  We're going to take a brief break.

10                ARBITRATOR:  Off the record.
11                                     (Recessed at 2:30 p.m.)
12                                     (Reconvened at 2:46 p.m.)
13                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record.  Returning to 
14      cross after a couple minutes' break.
15           Dan?  
16                         CROSS EXAMINATION
17 BY MR. SWEDLOW:
18 Q    Labor and Industries has more than just a Workers' Comp 
19      section.  Right?  Isn't there also a health and safety 
20      section that's separate?
21 A    Sure.  So . . .
22 Q    And health and safety, is it Department of Occupational and 
23      Safety and Health?  Did I get that right?
24 A    Three main divisions at L&I:  one is the Workers' Comp 
25      Program, a division of Industrial Insurance.  The second is 
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1      DOSH, Division of Occupational Safety and Health.  The third 

2      is Employment Standards, which does wage and hour and other 

3      complaints around discrimination.

4 Q    Does DOSH deal with WISHA?

5 A    Yes, same thing.

6 Q    Like OSHA?  Like federal OSHA -- 

7 A    Correct.

8 Q    -- but WISHA?

9           Are you familiar with DOSH?

10 A    I am.

11 Q    Claims come in through that department as well.  Right?

12 A    The Workers' Comp Division is separate from the State OSHA 

13      division.

14 Q    Right.  So Workers' Comp claims are claims that come in that 

15      result in time loss, for example?

16 A    Sure.

17 Q    And there are injuries that come in under the DOSH system, 

18      tracks all kind of reportable workplace injuries.  Right?

19 A    The industrial insurance system is pretty much separate from 

20      the Division of Occupational Safety and Health or State 

21      OSHA.  So in terms of benefits administered and sort of 

22      things that the data represent are going to be separate.  

23           DOSH actually would handle things like an employee 

24      complaint about workplace safety or a discrimination 

25      complaint related to I was fired for filing a Workers' Comp 
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1      claim or they would do either a consultation or compliance 

2      visits to workplace facilities to assess hazards, but they 

3      don't necessarily administer benefits for Workers' 

4      Compensation.

5 Q    Right.  But there are injuries and incidents that are 

6      reported to DOSH that do not become, for example, Workers' 

7      Comp claims?

8 A    That -- okay.  Let me just add a little bit.

9 Q    Sure.  

10 A    Employers are required to report fatalities to DOSH to deal 

11      with workplace investigation around safety hazards.  Same 

12      thing with inpatient hospitalizations, clusters of illness.  

13      So that -- they would get that information.  There are 

14      people who may be injured and DOSH may or may not deal with 

15      this.  People may complain of being injured and not file a 

16      claim.  

17 Q    When you say "claim," are you referring to a Workers' Comp 

18      claim?

19 A    Yes.

20 Q    As opposed to a DOSH claim, for example?  A claim under 

21      WISHA?

22 A    Yeah.  It would be an unfamiliar term to me to say a claim 

23      under WISHA.

24 Q    Because a claim, generally, is seeking money.  Right?

25 A    Right.
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1 Q    And so Workers' Comp, generally people are seeking money?

2 A    Well, they're entitled to benefits for their medical 
3      payments, and I don't think they're seeking money.  I think 
4      they're entitled to benefits.
5 Q    I don't mean to portray it that way.  What I mean is, 

6      they're looking for either time loss or they're looking for 

7      their medical bills to be covered as a result of a workplace 

8      injury?

9 A    I understand what you're saying.  I just want -- I want to 
10      be sort of clear.  It's a social insurance system.  People 
11      are entitled to that.  I don't know what they're looking 
12      for.  I don't know -- "looking for" is, from my perspective, 
13      not necessarily how I would describe it.  I would say that 
14      they're filing a claim for benefits that they deserve under 
15      social insurance system like Medicare or whatever.
16 Q    Right.  Okay.  

17 A    DOSH is separate.  There's a different process there, but 
18      it's not -- it's about occupational safety and health 
19      complaints and they get rectified that way.
20 Q    What gets filed under DOSH, in general?

21 A    So DOSH -- okay.  So DOSH does a variety of different 
22      things.  If I'm concerned about a workplace being safe or 
23      not or I know of a hazard, I can file a complaint with my 
24      regional state OSHA office and they may send out an 
25      inspector, or may not.  If I feel that a workplace is 
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1      discriminating against me for filing a Workers' Compensation 

2      claim, I can go through a unit that basically handles those 

3      complaints.  

4           DOSH also has scheduled inspections and other types of 

5      inspections where they go out and visit workplaces that are 

6      considered high hazard.

7 Q    Now, in the Department of Corrections-Teamsters collective 

8      bargaining agreement, there's a significant amount -- you're 

9      aware there's a significant amount of leave available to 

10      employees and that they have a lot of comp time or they 

11      have -- for example, 12 weeks of light-duty time.  So 

12      corrections officer who is injured on the job has the 

13      ability to go back and work for a full-time salary in a 

14      light-duty position for up to 12 weeks.  Would that result 

15      in a Workers' Comp claim?  

16           Let's say, for example, somebody's injured.  Minor 

17      injury, major injury, not the kind of major injury that 

18      would result in more than 12 weeks of lost work, but the 

19      kind of injury that result in, I need to do something other 

20      than being a CO for a couple of weeks.  I need to do an 

21      office job.  

22           Under those circumstances, a claim, a Workers' Comp 

23      claim, wouldn't be filed and paid, other than perhaps 

24      medical coverage.  Right?

25 A    So generally, this is how it works:  You're injured.  You go 
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1      to your healthcare provider.  The healthcare provider and 

2      the local initiates a Workers' Compensation claim.  The 

3      healthcare provider, on the claim form, will say this injury 

4      sort of warrants a person being off work for a certain 

5      period of time.  

6           That basically will trigger Workers' Compensation 

7      benefits or the employer, by virtue of however they want to 

8      handle the claim, they keep the worker on salary and pay 

9      them full salary.  If there's -- if the healthcare provider 

10      authorizes a light-duty assignment, they can authorize a 

11      light-duty assignment, which means maybe not doing certain 

12      activities that may aggravate a back injury or something 

13      like that.  But that worker is more or less kept on salary 

14      or has a light-duty assignment.  

15           If there is no time-loss benefits paid, and if there 

16      are -- there's no time loss authorized, then basically that 

17      worker could have only a medical-only claim.

18 Q    You're aware that DOC employees -- maybe you're not aware if 

19      DOC employees do defensive tactics training?  Do you know if 

20      Department of Social and Health Services do?

21 A    No.

22 Q    Not your area?

23 A    No.

24                MR. SWEDLOW:  I have nothing further.  

25                MR. LOWY:  Nothing on redirect.
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1                            EXAMINATION
2 BY ARBITRATOR: 
3 Q    I want to make sure I understood your last -- 
4 A    Sure.
5 Q    -- response.  
6           If you know, an employee is injured on the job by an 
7      act that would be a violent act in your statistical 
8      universe, but he or she loses no work time because the 
9      contract provides a light-duty benefit, and the employee is 

10      not so seriously injured as to be incapable of functioning 
11      on a light-duty basis.  Is your system going to count that 
12      as time lost to an act of violence, or not?  
13 A    Okay.  I want to sort of take a step back.  So regardless of 
14      the benefits provided by the Union or any employer, okay, 
15      whether or not it's vacation, sick time, all of that being 
16      available, the Workers' Compensation claim comes in, the 
17      healthcare provider has to authorize either time off or 
18      accept that the employer can provide a modified duty.  Okay.  
19      So the claim is now initiated because it's in.  The doc's 
20      basically going to file a bill.  
21           So it's totally separate from that benefit.  Okay.  The 
22      employer, and hopefully the provider, basically say, okay, 
23      this modified duty assignment is actually available.  Great.  
24      That person can actually keep on working.  If there's no 
25      significant loss of income, they don't qualify for something 
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1      called loss of earning potential benefits.  If there's no 

2      time loss, it would be categorized as a medical-only claim.  

3           So that would be counted in our system but not a 

4      compensable claim.  So it's entirely separate from sort of 

5      the benefits provided.  As a matter of fact, I don't think 

6      you can take sick leave and vacation leave for that type of 

7      activity.  

8           If the employer says, okay, I can't provide you a 

9      modified duty assignment.  I don't want to have the Workers' 

10      Compensation system pay you, that is categorized as 

11      something called kept on salary.  It's a way for an employer 

12      to lessen the potential impact on their premium.  That kept 

13      on salary claim is counted as a compensable claim in our 

14      data because the worker is off from work.  They cannot work.  

15      And so that is counted as a compensable violence claim.  Is 

16      that clear?  

17 Q    Yes.  Apart from the kept on salary possibility, we're back 

18      to my question about your chart on page 5 of whether the 

19      data from medical claims was going to be roughly 

20      proportionate to the data for the time-loss claims, because 

21      as I understand it, what you're telling me is that claims 

22      that might be dealt with under light-duty provision would 

23      show up in the medical claims number, even if they didn't 

24      show up in the time loss?

25 A    Correct.
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1                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.  
2           Further cross by either side?  
3                MR. LOWY:  No.
4                MR. SWEDLOW:  Nothing further.  
5                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks for coming in.  Appreciate it.  
6                THE WITNESS:  Yes.
7                MR. LOWY:  Mr. Hernandez will be our next witness.  
8                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  
9                                    (Short recess taken.)

10                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record and returning to 
11      the Agency's next witness.  
12           I need to get you to raise your hand.  
13           
14 ERIC HERNANDEZ,             having been first duly sworn,
15                             testified as follows:  
16           
17                ARBITRATOR:  Thank you.  Please spell your name 
18      for us.
19                THE WITNESS:  Eric, E-r-i-c, Hernandez, 
20      H-e-r-n-a-n-d-e-z.
21                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.  
22                         DIRECT EXAMINATION
23 BY MR. LOWY: 
24 Q    Good afternoon, Mr. Hernandez.  
25 A    Hello.
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1 Q    If you can just make sure also just to speak up so the court 

2      reporter can hear you, that would be great.  

3           And can you please state where you work?

4 A    I'm currently the health services administrator for Western 

5      Washington for the Department of Corrections.

6 Q    And how long have you been in that position?

7 A    I've been in this position for just over a year.

8 Q    And what are your duties and responsibilities?

9 A    I oversee healthcare operations for all the prisons on the 

10      west side of the state, aside from Clallam Bay Corrections 

11      Center.

12 Q    And prior to work -- being the health services 

13      administrator, what other positions have you held at 

14      Department of Corrections?

15 A    I have been the healthcare manager for the Washington 

16      Corrections Center for Women, for the Mission Creek 

17      Corrections Center for Women, and the Washington Corrections 

18      Center in Shelton.  I've also held various clerical 

19      positions within Health Services prior to that.

20 Q    So has your whole career in DOC been in Health Services?

21 A    Aside from nine months, yes.

22 Q    What was that nine months?

23 A    I was a secretary senior to the associate superintendent of 

24      operations at WCCW.

25 Q    What is your educational background?
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1 A    I have a bachelor's degree in healthcare management from 
2      Chapman University.
3 Q    And you were present today and you heard testimony about 
4      on-call.  Correct?
5 A    Yes.
6 Q    And we heard testimony that there's on-call provisions in -- 
7      actually, let me step back and clarify.  
8           When I use the term "contract" in this case, I'll be 
9      talking about the contract between DOC and providers.  When 

10      I want to refer to the collective bargaining agreement with 
11      the Teamsters local, I'll use the term "CBA."  If that -- 
12 A    Providers, you mean our contract providers?  
13 Q    Your contract providers.  
14 A    Okay.
15 Q    So we're clear on the terms?
16 A    Um-hmm.
17 Q    You have to say yes or no for the -- 
18 A    Yes.
19 Q    And so is there an on-call provision in the contracts with 
20      your service providers?
21 A    Yes.
22 Q    Why is that in there?
23 A    They are there in the eventuality that we do not have -- we 
24      would not have sufficient DOC staff to cover the on-call 
25      services at the facilities.  It's rare that we use them 
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1      anymore, but we do negotiate those in to every staffing 

2      agency contract we provide in the event that a facility, for 

3      whatever reason, does not have the providers necessary to 

4      enact a call schedule.

5 Q    And how frequently do you utilize the on-call provisions for 

6      contract workers?

7 A    It's rare.

8 Q    What are you currently -- 

9 A    As far as I'm aware, we do not do that today.  The last time 

10      we used it was several years ago, primarily for the 

11      penitentiary and Airway Heights because their staffing 

12      levels had dropped to a point with their midlevel 

13      practitioners that at -- Airway comes to my head.  They have 

14      one blue badge or DOC staff member, midlevel, who would have 

15      been on call 24/7 for over a year, but obviously we can't do 

16      that to somebody.  So we would pay for those contractors.  

17      We would utilize that call provision in the agency contracts 

18      to allow for call -- for them to participate in the call 

19      rotation.

20 Q    And prior to utilizing the contract workers, would DOC 

21      attempt to utilize any other persons before doing that?

22 A    We would attempt to utilize any nearby facilities.  A good 

23      example would be WCC, Washington Corrections Center.  They 

24      currently about four, five midlevels in their primary call 

25      rotation, but they also expanded their pool through the 
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1      utilization of the midlevels at Cedar Corrections Center and 
2      Larch Corrections Center.  They expanded their pool so 
3      there's a longer rotation time.  And if someone calls off 
4      from any one of those facilities, there's still an adequate 
5      pool to maintain that coverage.
6 Q    Do you look at -- would you also look at any other persons 
7      other than --
8 A    It's not uncommon that the chief medical officer would 
9      participate, if the need arose, to participate in primary 

10      call.
11 Q    When you say "chief medical officer," you mean of the 
12      facility?
13 A    Of the department.
14 Q    Of the department?
15 A    Dr. Hammond.
16 Q    And what about chief medical director?  Is that the same 
17      as -- 
18 A    The facility medical directors?  
19 Q    Yes.  
20 A    They would also participate, if necessary.  They typically 
21      take secondary call.
22 Q    What does secondary call mean?
23 A    Midlevels take primary call.  The first person the nurses 
24      will call if something happens in the facility or they need 
25      a clarification of orders, they need to get permission to 
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1      send somebody out to an ER, they'll contact the midlevel 

2      providers:  the ARNP's or the PA's.  

3           If there's something that the PA's and ARNP's can't 

4      handle on their own or they need to consult with, the 

5      medical director would be secondary call, a physician they 

6      could consult with to determine whether they needed a higher 

7      level of care or get permission to send an inmate out for an 

8      ER trip.  

9 Q    And you heard testimony today, you were here, from I believe 

10      it was Ms. Conner?

11 A    Um-hmm -- yes.

12 Q    About having to come back into the facility?

13 A    Yes.

14 Q    What is the general expectation whether persons on-call have 

15      to return to the facility or not?

16 A    There is -- there is no general expectation of the 

17      Department to have a midlevel return to the facility while 

18      they're on-call.

19 Q    And is that pretty true -- I think there's 12 DOC 

20      facilities.  Correct?

21 A    Yes.

22 Q    Is it your understanding that that's pretty much the general 

23      expectation for ten of those facilities?

24 A    Yes.  As far as I know, that expectation was only at the 

25      state penitentiary and Airway Heights.
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1 Q    You say "was the expectation."  Can you elaborate on that?
2 A    The expectation changed the beginning of this year for 
3      Airway Heights.  There was a provision that the medical 
4      director had expected that midlevel practitioners that were 
5      on-call would come into the facility to handle anything that 
6      could be handled on-site for minor suturing, any kind of 
7      basic medical assessment, things that didn't need to go to 
8      an ER.  
9           The beginning of this year, that was changed in 

10      consultation with the facility medical director and the 
11      chief medical officer.  So that expectation has been 
12      eliminated.  If the provider today elects to -- or if a 
13      provider today comes into the facility, it's at their choice 
14      to come in.
15 Q    And those midlevel providers, those are overtime exempt 
16      employees.  Correct?
17 A    Correct.
18 Q    So they just come in kind of if they have -- when they have 
19      to come in, is it just they come kind of without any sort of 
20      reimbursement?
21 A    No.  They were given exchange time, hour for hour from the 
22      moment they left their residence to the time they left -- 
23      when they returned after going to the facility, which is 
24      true today.  If they show up, they're given the exchange 
25      time in accordance with the existing CBA.
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1 Q    And you said it was at Airway Heights it was expected to 

2      come into the facility.  Was there a certain time period?  

3      Was it within 30 minutes?  Two hours?  Six hours?

4 A    For Airway Heights, I believe the penitentiary, if an 

5      offender was admitted to the inpatient unit, there was the 

6      expectation they would be rounded on by a midlevel within 

7      six to seven hours of admission.

8 Q    And were you present when you heard testimony that sometimes 

9      the on-call staff or midlevel providers, when they're 

10      on-call, get six to seven phone calls -- 

11 A    Yes.

12 Q    -- a day or in a night?

13 A    I was.

14 Q    Did that surprise you?

15 A    It's --

16 Q    Or is it typical, from your understanding?

17 A    From my understanding, no.  Does it happen?  Yes.  There's 

18      going to be those days where you have a heavy call volume 

19      and there's going to be days that there are -- you might not 

20      get a call at all.

21 Q    And if someone said, well, no, we get six to seven phone 

22      calls all the time, what would you, as the health services 

23      administrator, expect to see?  What kind of documentation 

24      would you anticipate to see for something like that?

25 A    I would look at the call logs for that particular period of 
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1      time and find out why was the midlevel being called.  Was   

2      it -- was there an outbreak of something in the facility?  

3      Was there a new nurse on shift?  Was there some protocol 

4      change?  Looking to see what was driving that call load.  It 

5      is -- in my experience, it's been rare that the call volume 

6      is that high for an extended amount of time.  

7           It's expected -- you're expected to have high call 

8      volumes here and there, and low volumes.  You're going to 

9      get a mix and match of what's happening.  But an extended 

10      amount of time where that's a regular thing, that should be 

11      rare.  If it's happening on a regular basis and we know 

12      about it, we're going to look into finding out what is it 

13      and what can we do to help deal with that workload.

14 Q    And if we can maybe shift now to the issue of the shift 

15      differential.  

16 A    Okay.

17 Q    Do LPN's receive a shift differential?

18 A    They do.  But they don't receive the premium, to my 

19      understanding, the supplemental premium.

20 Q    And how is that comparable to the medical community that you 

21      would see out in the community regarding as far as shift 

22      differential?

23 A    From what our director of nursing has been able to 

24      ascertain, it is not uncommon to see something like that 

25      specifically because the RN's are higher licensed 
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1      professional than the LPN's.
2 Q    You know, you were here for the testimony -- 
3                ARBITRATOR:  I'm lost.  Sorry.  So LPN's get a 
4      shift differential depending on whether they're working 
5      grave, swing, or days?  That sort of shift differential?  
6                THE WITNESS:  Yes.
7                ARBITRATOR:  And what the previous testimony from 
8      the Union addressed was weekend work and specifically 
9      weekend -- a weekend premium.

10                THE WITNESS:  The nurses get a supplemental 
11      premium.
12                ARBITRATOR:  Nurses being?  
13                THE WITNESS:  RN's.  
14                ARBITRATOR:  RN's.
15                THE WITNESS:  Which the LPN's do not currently 
16      get.  
17 Q    (By Mr. Lowy)  And you were here for the testimony of 
18      Ms. Woodrow?
19 A    Yes.
20 Q    And you heard her talk about the underfill or how DOC would 
21      use LPN's to underfill an RN positions?  
22 A    Yes.
23 Q    What was your reaction?  Or what's your response to that 
24      testimony?
25 A    It is something that we do.  It's not something that's done 
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1      necessarily to undercut the cost of DOC.  We would follow 
2      the -- give some example, that if a nurse were to call off 
3      today, for this morning for their shift today, we would pull 
4      our overtime rosters, starting with voluntary overtime.  We 
5      follow the overtime rosters for the -- that's called for in 
6      the CBA.  So if there's an RN that called off, we pull the 
7      RN voluntary overtime list and try assign -- pull 
8      assignments out of that.  
9           If there's nobody on that list, we'll move to the 

10      LPN's.  They can do up to their scope of licensure to cover 
11      that shift where we would have to have an RN deal with 
12      remaining duties associated with that.
13                ARBITRATOR:  So help me out and tell me if I'm 
14      wrong.  My understanding would be that if we have -- as long 
15      as we have a multiple-nurse staff and one of those nurses on 
16      duty is actually an RN, it's acceptable to have an LPN 
17      covering a vacant second RN slot?  
18                THE WITNESS:  Yes.  
19                ARBITRATOR:  But the LPN still has the scope of 
20      service associated with her license -- 
21                THE WITNESS:  Correct.  
22                ARBITRATOR:  -- or his license?  
23           Okay.
24 Q    (By Mr. Lowy)  And before you would do that, though, you 
25      would try to find the other possible options to fill that 
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1      position?
2 A    Um-hmm.
3 Q    I'm sorry.  You have to say yes or no.  
4 A    Yes.
5                ARBITRATOR:  And just to round out the picture, I 
6      assume the third shoe here would be overtime desired list.  
7      Stick an LPN in.  If neither of those work, then we're 
8      talking about involuntary overtime?  
9                THE WITNESS:  Do a mandatory.  We have a whole 

10      other process for mandatory overtime for that too, which 
11      essentially recycles the whole thing.  We go back, look for 
12      on-calls, look for volunteers.  
13 Q    (By Mr. Lowy)  Do you know who Michelle Alejo is?
14 A    I do.
15 Q    And you know her from your work?
16 A    Um-hmm -- yes.
17 Q    And her current position is an LPN 4.  Correct?
18 A    Yes.
19 Q    And can you tell me a little bit about the creation -- 
20      about the creation of the position of the LPN 4?
21 A    Her particular position?  
22 Q    Let's talk about her particular position.  
23 A    Historically, from my understanding, the LPN 4's at that 
24      facility were created as an attempt to have retention of   
25      LPN 2's.  They're paid a little higher than the 2's.  So 
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1      they created I think four positions, seven, six years ago.
2 Q    And -- go ahead.  I'm sorry.  
3 A    And Michelle happened to be one of those individuals that 
4      got hired in those positions back then.  She currently works 
5      in the outpatient treatment room at WCC.
6 Q    And I think what -- I apologize if I butcher her name, but I 
7      believe what Ms. Alejo testified to was previously she 
8      was -- she worked the pill line?
9 A    Yes.

10 Q    And I think we used this term, not much discretion in that 
11      job?
12 A    Correct.
13 Q    Pretty much -- 
14 A    You pop a pill out of a bubble pack card and hand it to the 
15      offender.  You make sure you gave the right medication, and 
16      you go to the next patient.
17 Q    A little bit more -- 
18 A    Not an exciting job.
19 Q    Yeah.  A little bit more discretion in her current position?
20 A    Yeah.  She has had a lot more autonomy in her current 
21      position.  She helps with the RN's and the primary 
22      providers, dealing with primary care for the patients in the 
23      outpatient setting.  She helps with emergency responses.  
24           She is, as I understand it, the -- one of the LPN's 
25      that have volunteered to mentor with one of the RN 3's out 
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1      there to work in the wound care clinic.  We have a certified 
2      wound care nurse at the facility and she's got a few of the 
3      staff that are interested in learning that skill.  
4 Q    So let's back up.  Tell us what the wound care clinic is.  
5                ARBITRATOR:  Oh, no.  I kind of understand what 
6      wound care is, so . . .
7 Q    (By Mr. Lowy)  Anything beyond the name would suggest?  I 
8      mean -- 
9 A    No.

10 Q    Speaks for it?
11 A    (Witness nods head.)
12 Q    You have to speak.  
13 A    Yes.  Sorry.
14                ARBITRATOR:  Ordinarily, as I understand it, the 
15      threshold determination for getting specialized wound care 
16      treatment is, you've got a wound that isn't healing 
17      according to regular nonspecialized wound care treatment 
18      protocol.
19                THE WITNESS:  That's correct.  
20 Q    (By Mr. Lowy)  And so is that position for the LPN's, 
21      Ms. Alejo, she's getting further training, is that part of a 
22      retention to retain the LPN?
23 A    It's an attempt to give her some more education, make the 
24      job more interesting, and yes, help with retention, help the 
25      staff beyond anything else we can do for the Department.

Page 838

1 Q    Would it surprise you to hear that Ms. Alejo loves her job 
2      at DOC?
3 A    No.  She's told me that several times.
4                MR. LOWY:  I have no further questions.
5                ARBITRATOR:  Is there cross?  
6                MR. THAL:  Yes.  
7                         CROSS EXAMINATION
8 BY MR. THAL:
9 Q    In the last bit of your testimony there, you mentioned 

10      several times about the Department's interest in doing what 
11      it can to retain LPN's.  Did I understand that correctly?
12 A    Yes.
13 Q    And is it fair to say that that's because the Department has 
14      a challenge in retaining LPN's?
15 A    Yes.
16 Q    And in fact, the documents that we've already put into 
17      evidence show that in 2012, for example, there was turnover 
18      ranging, depending on which classification you were in, 
19      between 13 to 18 percent.  Would that surprise you?
20 A    Sounds about right.
21 Q    And I take it that that problem is a problem really that 
22      you're facing on a statewide basis.  Wouldn't you agree?
23 A    Some facilities more than others.
24 Q    But it's an overall problem?
25 A    To some level, yes.
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1 Q    And is it -- did I understand correctly that it was in that 

2      context and for that reason that some positions were created 

3      as LPN 4 positions, even though they may really more 

4      accurately be doing LPN 2 work?  Is that right?

5 A    No.

6 Q    Okay.  

7 A    When we changed to the LPN 4's, we gave them more -- we gave 

8      them a broader scope of work.  The LPN 2's you'll typically 

9      find in a pill room popping pills, handing them out of a 

10      pill room.  It's hopefully uncommon these days you will find 

11      an LPN 4 doing exclusively that.  They may cover for a pill 

12      line that's vacant.  If a pill line nurse calls off today, 

13      we will send an LPN 4 out there.  Predominantly you will 

14      find the LPN 4's helping with direct patient care. 

15 Q    But the establishment of the LPN 4 position was, in part, to 

16      create an incentive to retain?

17 A    At WCC at that point in time, yes, to my understanding.  I 

18      was not there when they were created.

19 Q    And to be clear, WCC is not a location where LPN's receive 

20      what we've been calling geo pay or location pay, if that 

21      means anything to you?

22 A    That is correct.

23 Q    I want to focus your attention on the provision of the 

24      contract that you referenced in your direct testimony 

25      regarding exchange time, and that can be found in      
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1      Article 16.5 of the contract.  Am I correct about that?

2 A    Do I have a copy of the contract?  

3 Q    No.  You have to answer without looking.  Just kidding.  

4      You'll find it on page 43.  Yeah.  Good luck searching 

5      through that.  

6                MR. KLEIN:  That's the TA document there?  

7                MR. THAL:  Yeah.  This is not going to work, but 

8      we can find it.  

9                MR. LOWY:  I think Exhibit -- 

10                ARBITRATOR:  1-1.

11                MR. THAL:  Exhibit 1-1, that's better.  

12                ARBITRATOR:  That is the prior.

13                MR. THAL:  Yeah, that's good.  It hasn't changed.  

14      Well, obviously.  

15 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  This is the provision in 16.5 that you were 

16      referring to about exchange time.  Right?

17 A    Yes.

18 Q    Can we just go ahead and read through that together and make 

19      sure that we have a mutual agreed understanding?  I think 

20      what we're talking about is D.  Correct?  This is the 

21      provision that deals with exchange time.  Am I right?

22 A    Yes.

23 Q    What it says is, "With prior approval of the appointing 

24      authority or designee" -- and I take it that what that means 

25      is that, before you do it, you have to have your appointing 
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1      authority's approval?  Right.  You can't just do it and 
2      expect exchange time.  Right?  That's what that means?
3 A    Correct.
4 Q    "Overtime exempt employees may accrue exchange time for 
5      working in excess of 45 hours in a week."
6           Do you see that?
7 A    Um-hmm -- yes.
8 Q    Is that your understanding of how that works?
9 A    Yes.

10 Q    And that they can, I guess, accrue it up to a maximum of a 
11      120 bank.  Is that right?
12 A    Correct.
13 Q    And it's not cash value.  It's just time off.  Right?
14 A    Correct.
15 Q    On an hour-for-hour basis?
16 A    Correct.
17                MR. LOWY:  Spencer, what provision are you reading 
18      from?  
19                MR. THAL:  16.5 D.  It should be on -- yeah.  
20      There it is.  
21 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  I was a little curious about your testimony 
22      about medical providers making the choice to come into the 
23      facility.  What do you mean by that?  That they would make a 
24      decision about whether or not they wanted to come to the 
25      facility to care for a patient who needs care?
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1 A    Correct.
2 Q    I mean, you understand that they have licensure 
3      requirements?
4 A    Yes.
5 Q    I'm told that Stafford Creek currently has a contract PA.  
6      Is that correct?
7 A    They do.
8 Q    So when you testified that it's rare that you use contract 
9      staff and you couldn't recall -- you haven't done it today 

10      and couldn't recall one in recent years, you just forgot 
11      about Stafford Creek?
12 A    No.  The contractor -- contract providers are not part of 
13      the on-call schedule.  That was what that response was -- 
14 Q    You're saying only -- not that you -- okay.
15 A    Not we don't have them, but they're not part of the call 
16      rotation.
17 Q    That makes more sense to me.  So let's back up.  
18           You currently have contract medical staff?
19 A    Yes.
20 Q    All over the system?
21 A    Yes.
22 Q    And, in fact, as a general matter, you pay the contract 
23      staff at a higher rate than the DOC staff?
24 A    Correct.
25 Q    And what you were saying is that you haven't included them 
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1      on the on-call rotation for some time.  Is that right?
2 A    Correct.
3 Q    And you didn't testify about this on direct examination, so 
4      I'm probably a fool for asking this question, but do you 
5      know the contract rate for on-call?
6 A    Generally, it's between $125 to $150 per day, depending on 
7      which agency.
8 Q    So when you say "depending on which agency," you mean 
9      somewhere other than DOC?  Which contractor?

10 A    Which contract agency.
11                MR. THAL:  Got it.  I have no further questions.  
12                MR. LOWY:  Can I clarify one quick thing?  Because 
13      I believe Mr. Thal was referring to an exhibit in 1-1, but I 
14      think the language he was reading from was different.  It's 
15      actually the language from 1-5 because I don't think 1-1 has 
16      the language of work in excess of 45 hours.  It's different 
17      language than in 1-1.
18                MR. THAL:  I was reading from our '13-'15 
19      contract.  I don't know.  I'm reading from the current 
20      contract.  
21                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  So I'm not sure I have, at 
22      least in this book, a current contract.  
23                MR. LOWY:  I believe it's 1-5.  Yes, 1-5.
24                MR. THAL:  There's one in the Union's book too, 
25      Exhibit, probably, 2.  
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1                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Looking for 16.5.  So it looks 
2      pretty darn similar to me.  I'm looking at 61, page 61, 
3      "With prior approval of the appointing authority or 
4      designee, overtime exempt in excess of 45 hours per 
5      workweek.  Straight time up to a maximum of 120."  
6                MR. THAL:  I guess in negotiations -- I'm being 
7      told in negotiations we got rid of the 45-hour criteria.  So 
8      they're currently on the 45-hour criteria because the new 
9      contract doesn't come into effect until July 1, '15, but I 

10      guess in this round of negotiations it -- I missed it 
11      totally.  Never mind.  
12                MR. LOWY:  I just want to make sure, when we go 
13      back to the record, the language is to the right exhibit.
14                ARBITRATOR:  Yes.  I'm still not sure where we're 
15      going.  Off the record.
16                                    (Recessed at 3:23 p.m.)
17                                    (Reconvened at 3:24 p.m.)
18                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record.
19                MR. THAL:  I think the parties have figured out 
20      that the '11 to '13 contract did not have the 45-hour 
21      requirement in 16.5 D.  That requirement came in with the 
22      2013-2015 contract and will remain in the '15-'17 based on 
23      the TA that the parties have at 16.5.  
24                ARBITRATOR:  And the prior approval requirement 
25      has been steady since '11 and -- 
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1                MR. THAL:  At least '11, if not earlier.
2                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  Are we done?  
3                MR. THAL:  I was done with cross.  I don't know if 
4      there's redirect.
5                MR. LOWY:  Just a quick redirect.  Thank you.
6                ARBITRATOR:  Sure.
7                       REDIRECT EXAMINATION  
8 BY MR. LOWY:  
9 Q    First of all, Mr. Thal asked you about the pay the 

10      contract staff receive.  
11           Do you remember that?
12 A    Yes.
13 Q    Do contract staff receive benefits?
14 A    They do not.
15 Q    And the provision we were talking about, the 45 hours you 
16      have to work before you get the exchange time, how did -- 
17      once you hit 45 -- let's say you work seven hours extra.  So 
18      do you get the full seven hours once you crossed at 45 or do 
19      you only get, you know, the difference between the 45 and 
20      the 47?
21 A    You get the full seven.  
22                MR. LOWY:  I have no further questions.  
23                ARBITRATOR:  Anything more?  
24                MR. THAL:  Goodness no.  
25                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks very much for your time.  
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1           Off the record.
2                                     (Recessed at 3:26 p.m.)
3                                     (Reconvened at 3:26 p.m.)
4                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record with Ms. Mitchell 
5      in the chair again and still under oath.
6                THE WITNESS:  Yes.
7                MR. KLEIN:  Are we ready?  
8                ARBITRATOR:  We are.
9                         DIRECT EXAMINATION

10 BY MR. KLEIN: 
11 Q    Ms. Mitchell, welcome back.  
12 A    Thank you.
13 Q    Could you provide us some perspective from the State labor 
14      relations of the on-call and the shift premium issue?
15 A    Certainly.  I would like to, if I could, turn to whatever 
16      tab it is, the current contract.  1-5, is that what it is?  
17      No.  
18 Q    Actually -- 
19                ARBITRATOR:  Well, it's sort of not in the book.
20 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  It's sort of not in the book.  We have a 
21      deal for you.  
22                MR. THAL:  Union 2.  
23 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  I'll let you play with the book.  
24 A    Thank you.  
25 Q    It's No. 2.  
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1 A    Great.  

2                ARBITRATOR:  Point me to a section.  

3                THE WITNESS:  Let's start with 32.17 on page 97, 

4      97 and 98.

5 A    So I can walk you through a little bit of history on this 

6      issue.  The history is under -- prior to our first 

7      collective bargaining agreement in 2005 and 2007, we were 

8      under WAC 356, Washington Administrative Code 356.  Those 

9      WAC's governed all sorts of -- all aspects of pay, 

10      essentially.  

11           In those WAC's we did have provisions for overtime 

12      eligible employees to receive stand-by.  It was somewhat of 

13      a complicated formula.  It wasn't 7 percent, but it was 

14      around that formula.  We also had a provision in the WAC for 

15      this topic that said an agency could go through a process to 

16      grant overtime exempt stand-by pay.  That would have to be 

17      per agency policy.  

18           We then bargained the '05-'07 agreement.  And at 

19      statewide level, we reached agreement, which is what you 

20      will see in most all of our contracts for overtime eligible 

21      employees only and that 7 percent is their stand-by rate.  

22           In that first contract, however, we did not have any 

23      reference to overtime exempt stand-by.  We left that off.  

24           And so when we negotiated a successor agreement 

25      in '07-'09, we certainly heard on a statewide level from 
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1      many overtime exempt employees, particularly in the IT  

2      field, information technology field, but several people that 

3      routinely were placed on stand-by and they were overtime 

4      exempt, that they lost out on compensation.  

5           Therefore, as a product of '07-'09 agreement, we agreed 

6      to $25 for each day or portion thereof spent in stand-by 

7      status.  That is language that is -- the best of my 

8      knowledge, consistent across all of our agreements has been 

9      in since '07-'09 and has not been changed.  

10 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  How about the shift premium?

11 A    And shift premium, yes.  So what I did with shift premium, I 

12      looked at this from a current statewide level.  I saw that 

13      of our master agreements, if you remember the Twister 

14      document, there was quite a few master agreements, four of 

15      which have the same language that you'll find in 32.15 and 

16      32.16.  However, for LPN's we only have one other master 

17      agreement that has LPN's.  That's the Washington Federation 

18      of State Employees.  Their language is identical to 13. -- 

19      32.15 and 32.16.  

20           In addition, I broadened my search and I looked at the 

21      rules for nonrepresented employees.  The language is -- 

22                ARBITRATOR:  Hang on just one second.  So the only 

23      other LPN's are in the WFSE unit?  

24                THE WITNESS:  Right.

25                ARBITRATOR:  They have the same language as 15 and 
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1      16?  

2                THE WITNESS:  However, I thought it was strange 

3      that other contracts adopted that language, but whatever 

4      it's worth, once when we ran a report, were in the 

5      Federation agreement.

6           I broadened my search to the nonrepresented rules.  

7      They appear to be the same, the same $1.50.  The split 

8      between LPN and RN, that's the same language.  And then I 

9      thought I would take a stroll down memory lane, see what the 

10      WAC 356 had in store.  

11           And I found that this issue of splitting the shift 

12      premium between LPN and RN goes back to approximately 1988.  

13      That's when I looked at the little footnotes under the WAC.  

14      That's when I saw the language first appeared.  At that 

15      point in time, around '88-'90, that was industry standard to 

16      pay an additional shift premium to RN's only.  So from my 

17      review, to summarize, it's language that has been in place 

18      for over 20 years.  

19                MR. KLEIN:  I have nothing further.  

20                MR. SWEDLOW:  Nothing from me.  

21                ARBITRATOR:  Good job.  Thank you.  

22                MR. KLEIN:  Keep marching.

23                ARBITRATOR:  Let's take five.  You have one more.

24                MR. KLEIN:  I have two more.  They're both going 

25      to be pretty quick.
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1                ARBITRATOR:  Four grew to be more.  

2                                     (Recessed at 3:33 p.m.)

3                                     (Reconvened at 3:42 p.m.)

4                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record.  I don't need to 

5      swear you in because you've been sworn already.

6                THE WITNESS:  I was wondering why we were still 

7      standing.

8                ARBITRATOR:  For the benefit of the reporter, tell 

9      your name so we'll know how to put it together.

10                THE WITNESS:  Karen Durant.  

11                ARBITRATOR:  And still under oath, Karen.  

12                THE WITNESS:  Thanks.

13                         DIRECT EXAMINATION

14 BY MR. KLEIN: 

15 Q    Ms. Durant, did you gather some information in terms of 

16      what the cost would be of a 1 percent?  While we could 

17      probably do it from Ms. Aslakson's 3 percent, can you tell 

18      us what this is, please?  

19                MR. THAL:  Can we divide by 3?  

20                MR. KLEIN:  Well, maybe we can and maybe we can't.  

21      But just so we don't have to identify which falls on which 

22      side of that ledge, what is -- 

23                MR. THAL:  It's so complicated.

24 A    Spencer is answering for me.  Yes.  Very simple depiction of 

25      basically division by three.
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1 Q    (By Mr. Thal)  Exhibit 4-28.  

2 A    (Witness complies.)
3 Q    Do you already have a 4-28?

4 A    Yeah.  But maybe this was supposed to be 27.  
5                MR. LOWY:  That should be 4-27.

6                MR. SWEDLOW:  Should be 4-27.  

7                ARBITRATOR:  Well, I have a blank 4-28.  

8                MR. KLEIN:  Hopefully not any longer.

9                ARBITRATOR:  That's where I was going to put it.  

10                MR. KLEIN:  Are you ready, Spencer?  

11                MR. THAL:  Yes.  Go ahead.

12 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Ms. Durant, did you also ask Segal to split 

13      out the information such that they would -- that they would 

14      do a Washington DOC with geo pay, but prior to time, there 

15      was cost of labor adjustment?  So you could look at, rather 

16      than lumping those together, you would have geo pay and then 

17      you would have cost of labor?

18 A    Yes.  At the arbitrator's request, we asked for a report 
19      modification that excludes the ERI data from the geographic 
20      pay analysis.
21 Q    Is that Exhibit 4-29?

22 A    Yes.
23                ARBITRATOR:  Hang on just a minute.  

24                MR. KLEIN:  Yep.  

25                ARBITRATOR:  Do you remember right offhand where 
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1      the original Segal study is?  
2                MR. KLEIN:  It's about 4-3, I believe.  4-3.  
3                ARBITRATOR:  Thank you.  
4 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  Did you also ask Segal to prepare or to give 
5      to you what the cost of living adjustment would be as 
6      opposed to the cost of labor adjustment we had discussions 
7      about?
8 A    Yes.  I think that the arbitrator requested this information 
9      as well, so this is a follow-up to that.

10 Q    Is that 4-30, please?
11 A    It is.  
12 Q    Somebody in our last few days together had asked a question 
13      about which statutes dealt with the class and comp, and it 
14      was after you had already testified.  Can you give us those 
15      statutory references, please?
16 A    There's a couple that I can think of.  So that would be 
17      Revised Code of Washington, RCW 41.06.157 and 41.06.160, 
18      both pertaining to classification system and salary surveys.
19 Q    Since you last testified, have you had the opportunity to 
20      try to track down some information about a legal matter, in 
21      particular In re: DW and DSHS?
22 A    The arbitrator requested that we possibly look at that as a 
23      change in circumstance.  It wasn't something that we had 
24      kept in the equation dealing with the financial feasibility 
25      or the economic climate of the state.  It was not taken into 
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1      account with Rich's testimony earlier.  

2           Friday at 5:00 p.m. there was a deposition filed by my 

3      agency director David Schumacher basically indicating that 

4      the settlement, the decision, was going to cost 

5      preliminarily, as a Band-Aid measure, $30 million in FY15.  

6      The agency will have to -- DSHS will have to come in and 

7      request supplemental authorization for spending that.  That 

8      was just kind of an initial estimate of that.  

9           Part of the deposition also talks about that OFM and 

10      jointly with the legislature and other State stakeholders 

11      will be working between now and budget development to decide 

12      what kind of impact will be in the '15-'17 biennium, but 

13      we're not anywhere near having that answer.

14 Q    Do you -- 

15 A    Or even -- 

16 Q    Would you expect it's going to be, from what you know, in 

17      the same range of the $30 million that you gave us for one 

18      year?

19 A    No, no, no.  It's going to be much greater than that but I 

20      don't have a T-shirt size at the moment, yeah.  And in 

21      addition, last Thursday we got another supreme court 

22      decision, Moore, M-o-o-r-e, v. Healthcare Authority dealing 

23      with an old case on part-time benefit eligibility and how 

24      the State would essentially compensate those they did not 

25      provide the benefits to who they should have.  
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1           There's just no sizing out there at all.  Needless to 
2      say, it will be large and will be, you know -- that's a work 
3      in progress also impacting the bottom line of the already 
4      red line of the State.
5 Q    We've had a question about healthcare and whether or not -- 
6      someone was looking at twister and noticed there was a lack 
7      of a line between the healthcare and the State troopers.  
8      Can you answer that question for us?
9 A    So retirement is a prohibited subject for all of the 

10      agreements.  Healthcare is prohibited for the state patrol 
11      troopers under 41.56.473 RCW.
12 Q    Do they not participate in the coalition bargaining?
13 A    They are the only ones who do not.  Correct.
14 Q    I think you were not with us last Thursday.  Can you tell us 
15      where you were?
16 A    I was at the super coalition for healthcare bargaining.
17 Q    Reach a resolution?
18 A    Unfortunately not.
19 Q    It's still a work in progress?
20 A    It is.
21 Q    One of the questions that came up in I believe it was 
22      Mr. Karia's testimony, although I think it was either him or 
23      the other -- I think it was Mr. Karia, dealt with a 
24      reference in the Segal material to Arizona geo pay.  Let me 
25      just turn to it.  It's at 4-3.  If you could look at page 74 
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1      of that.  Not in that notebook, huh?  How about if I give 
2      you my page 74?  
3 A    Thank you.
4                ARBITRATOR:  Off the record.
5                                    (Recessed at 3:53 p.m.)
6                                    (Reconvened at 3:53 p.m.)
7                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record.  Looking at 4.3, 
8      page 74.
9 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  It looks like in Arizona there's a geo pay 

10      that applies if you work at a couple facilities.  Is that 
11      correct?
12 A    Correct.
13 Q    And have you had an opportunity to track down what the 
14      actual percentage increase would be in the compensation of 
15      the corrections officers who work at that facility?
16 A    Yes.  So the follow-up information was, there was basically 
17      277 at the Winslow facility, 62 at the Apache.  There's a 
18      total of 6,576.
19 Q    Corrections officers?
20 A    Yes.  So that's roughly 5 percent receiving the 15 percent 
21      stipend or pay, whatever we want to call it, which would be 
22      an effective rate of about .8 percent.
23 Q    Thank you.  Can I have my page 70, whatever it is, back -- 
24 A    Yes.
25 Q    -- 4?  
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1           Did you also have an opportunity to, using the 
2      methodology of the State, which is the midpoint versus    
3      Step L, have the chance to put together some info both with 
4      geo pay and then with the cost of labor adjustment?
5 A    Yes.
6                MR. KLEIN:  Consider them one exhibit.  
7                ARBITRATOR:  What's this one going to be, Otto?  
8                MR. KLEIN:  This will be 4-31.  
9                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.  

10 Q    (By Mr. Klein)  And is what's been marked 4-31 a copy of 
11      what you put together?
12 A    Yes.
13                ARBITRATOR:  And this just driven by the change in 
14      Arizona?  
15                MR. KLEIN:  This was driven because we didn't have 
16      this actually in the materials.
17                ARBITRATOR:  Okay.  So it's the -- 
18                THE WITNESS:  Geo pay.  
19                ARBITRATOR:  Thanks.  
20 A    So, for the record, the first exhibit just shows the data 
21      adjusted for geo pay.  The second is the adjustment for geo 
22      pay and cost of labor.
23                MR. KLEIN:  Ms. Durant, I have nothing further.  
24                MR. THAL:  But it's the mid to top in both?  
25                THE WITNESS:  Yes.
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1                MR. KLEIN:  Top being defined as Step L.  Correct?  
2                THE WITNESS:  Top progression increase, yes.  
3                MR. KLEIN:  That means you have nothing?  Shall I 
4      bring on Mr. Frakes?  Are you thinking?  
5                MR. THAL:  I'm thinking.  Just a second.  This is 
6      cost of labor, not cost of living?  
7                MR. KLEIN:  Yes.  
8                MR. THAL:  Yeah.  I have nothing.  Nothing 
9      further.  

10                ARBITRATOR:  Is there cross?  No?  
11                MR. KLEIN:  That was -- 
12                ARBITRATOR:  No further cross?  
13                MR. KLEIN:  That was the cross.
14                MR. THAL:  4-25, was that what that was?  
15                ARBITRATOR:  4-31.  
16                MR. KLEIN:  Call Scott Frakes as our final 
17      witness.  
18                ARBITRATOR:  Ending as we began.  Hi, Scott. 
19      You've been loyal and true and sat here day after day and -- 
20                THE WITNESS:  It's been fascinating and sometimes 
21      entertaining.
22                ARBITRATOR:  Somewhat scary.  Still under oath, 
23      sir.  
24 ///
25 ///

Page 858

1                         DIRECT EXAMINATION

2 BY MR. KLEIN: 

3 Q    Mr. Frakes, if we were going to reduce the prison 

4      population, and "we" meaning the State, not DOC, how 

5      would -- what are some methods or ways they could go about 

6      doing that?

7 A    They could -- "they" being the legislature -- could change 

8      the sentencing grid so adjustments in how many crimes count 

9      towards lengthier sentences is one way, one simple way.  So 

10      someone does less time, means less bed space needed.  They 

11      could decriminalize certain activities or reduce the 

12      sanctions or sentencing for certain activities.  They could 

13      create yet further sentencing alternatives.  

14           All of those things ultimately will lead to fewer 

15      offenders needing to be in prison.  256 less offenders means 

16      one living unit.  Typically in today's, our system, 

17      somewhere between six and eight living units to make up an 

18      entire prison.

19 Q    Is another option to consider trying to move inmates from a 

20      more expensive facility to a less expensive facility?

21 A    That can be an option when there is bed space.  So if you 

22      have enough bed space, you can actually put people in those 

23      less costly beds and ultimately close living units and/or a 

24      facility.  That is a way to compact the population and to 

25      save money.  It's not our current situation.
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1 Q    I was going to say, that sounds like that's not an answer at 

2      the moment.  

3           With regard to these decisions, this is something that 

4      others, not DOC, will be making or looking at?

5 A    The population level or the caseload level would be 

6      primarily a legislative action.  If there was a reduction, 

7      then the Department would have a significant role in making 

8      decisions about what would change.

9 Q    Did you hear -- were you here for Dr. Best's testimony?

10 A    I was.

11 Q    Did you hear her talk about an increase in violent incidents 

12      over time?

13 A    I recall that.

14 Q    Is that consistent with what you've seen and understand to 

15      have occurred?

16 A    Well, she specifically referred to a presentation that was 

17      done by our secretary, Bernard Warner.  It was an indication 

18      of an uptick in violence at that time.  We've been tracking 

19      the same eight violent infractions as an indicator of 

20      overall violence in our prisons for a good six years now.  

21      While there are increases and decreases, the general trend 

22      line continues to go downward.

23 Q    And you once showed me a document that had sort of blips up 

24      and down month to month but had, looks like, some sort of 

25      multiple regression analysis done with a line drawn through 
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1      it.  

2           Is that what you're talking about when you're talking 

3      about a trend line?

4 A    Yes.

5 Q    We've also heard about the number of incidents that would 

6      occur where -- and heard examples of violent acts or 

7      assaults of one kind or another by inmates against 

8      employees.  And, first, you agree that happens?

9 A    Yes.

10 Q    Do you have any sense about how often that happens within 

11      the DOC, if you took maybe monthly stats?

12 A    I think this year, maybe over the last six months, it would 

13      be the last thing I saw, we're averaging at about nine 

14      incidents of some nature of violence against staff, nine 

15      incidents a month.

16 Q    And that's any sort of assault, whether it be hitting or 

17      spitting or whatever it might be?

18 A    From direct hands-on physical violence to an ID card thrown 

19      at a staff member.  That all counts.

20 Q    With regard to data, are there any particular groups or 

21      classifications of employees that are most likely to have 

22      this occur?

23 A    Broadly it would be staff that have -- give direct service 

24      to or have direct contact with offenders, but significantly, 

25      primarily, it's our correctional officers, correctional 
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1      sergeants.  Primarily correctional officers that are the 

2      target.

3 Q    And in looking at it, is there any other classification or 

4      group that sort of sticks out in terms of the numbers that 

5      you've seen?

6 A    Healthcare staff would be another group.  AC cooks, although 

7      it's probably as much as because there's been one 

8      significant incident this year with an AC cook so that does 

9      stand out.  Adult correctional cook.

10 Q    With regard to the issue of -- again, that's Dr. Best's 

11      testimony.  I believe she was talking about hostages.  How 

12      often does that occur?

13 A    I'll say that it's infrequent.  But, there again, if it 

14      happened once in the last ten years, that's still 

15      significant.  And I can recall three incidents I was 

16      thinking, because I did recall three incidents in the last 

17      four years, I believe.

18 Q    With regard to the duties and responsibilities of a CO, 

19      we've heard -- we've heard all sorts of different 

20      characterizations, from boredom to sheer -- to long periods 

21      of boredom to sheer terror to heightened whatever it is all 

22      the time.  

23           What I would like to do is have you talk with us a 

24      little bit about when you're a CO, what are you doing during 

25      the day?  And sort of just talk to us a little bit more 
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1      about duties and responsibilities and the interaction you 

2      would have with the inmates.  

3 A    Well, it would take me a long time to cover all of the 

4      different scenarios because there is a lot of different work 

5      settings, depending on class- -- custody level, security 

6      level, so let's go middle of the line.  Let's talk about an 

7      officer in a medium security facility.  

8           If they are a unit officer, they're going to be 

9      responsible for count, would be a significant one, one of 

10      their significant duties that might happen once or twice 

11      during their work shift.  They are going to conduct some 

12      cell searches.  They're going to --

13 Q    Can we go back?  When you say a "count," what happens during 

14      count?

15 A    A formal count that would be the one that would make most 

16      sense for this.  At a formal count, the offenders, for the 

17      most part, are at their cell, in their cell, in or on their 

18      bunk.  There may be -- during the day there may be a few 

19      that are still out at work, but the majority are going to be 

20      in their cells.  

21           The staff announce count.  The offenders are either 

22      secured in their cells or secure themselves, depending on 

23      the custody level.  The staff work together in pairs of two, 

24      and they are responsible for counting a certain part of 

25      either the offenders in a living unit or the offenders in a 

Page 863

1      work area, whatever it is.  They should know how many 
2      they're looking for.  
3           They compare notes as they go down each of the tiers to 
4      make sure they've seen the same things and are getting the 
5      same numbers.  And ultimately, if they agree at the end of 
6      that counting process that they have reached the same 
7      numbers, they fill out a piece of paper, put their names on 
8      it.  It's forwarded to a control point where it's all 
9      tallied up.  

10           If they're not in agreement, they go back and they 
11      count again, make sure.  If -- at the end of the counting 
12      process, if all the numbers don't tally up at the facility 
13      count, then everyone goes back out and counts again.  If 
14      necessary, they will do a picture card count to verify a 
15      picture of the offender with the offender and ultimately a 
16      count for every offender that's in a facility.
17 Q    Let's move on from counts.  Some other things that end up 
18      taking time during the day?
19 A    They'll do cell searches.  They will announce and facilitate 
20      movement in and out of the living unit.  This is, again, the 
21      unit staff.  They will issue supplies to offenders.  They do 
22      property inventories is another important duty.  And then 
23      they'll just observe.  They'll supervise the dayroom where 
24      the offenders gather to play games and interact with each 
25      other.  They'll watch the bathrooms, if it's a facility or a 
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1      living unit that has common bathroom, common bathroom space.  

2      So the unit staff are responsible for everything that's 

3      going on inside of that living unit.

4           If they're responsive movement officers, then they're 

5      outside the living unit and they're going to be monitoring 

6      the movement of offenders between buildings.  They're going 

7      to be responding to incidents, if there are any.  They're 

8      going to be escorting offenders to segregation, if there's 

9      been an incident.  They're going to stand as a security 

10      presence during the meals in the dinning halls.  They will 

11      move in and out of the living units and program space to 

12      provide additional sets of eyes, and you can just go from 

13      there.  

14           There's specialties within that.  If you're a 

15      recreation officer, your work is in recreation.  If you work 

16      in the work compound, then you're watching the maintenance 

17      and correctional industries offenders and their work.  So 

18      general duties are all around security practices.

19 Q    How about a maximum facility?

20 A    It's much more specialized.  The offenders spend the 

21      majority of their time in their cells, typically 23 hours a 

22      day.  Some days it could be 24.  When they leave their cell, 

23      they leave in restraints, normally handcuffs.  In some 

24      situations there may be additional restraints.  No less than 

25      two officers conduct every escort of the offender.  
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1           The offender is restrained by backing up to the cell 
2      door and putting their hands out through the cup port.  And 
3      they are then escorted to whatever location:  recreation 
4      yard, a shower, a hearings room.  No matter what the 
5      situation is, they are not taken out of the restraints until 
6      they're behind some kind of either a door that they back up 
7      to again so the restraints can be removed and they're 
8      secured in that space.  Or in the case of the hearings room 
9      or a classification room, they're secured to a bench so they 

10      can't move to any degree and then maybe the restraints are 
11      left on because of -- that's what needs to occur.  One way 
12      or the other, if the offender is out in contact with humans, 
13      they're restrained.  
14           They have little or no contact -- they have actually no 
15      physical contact with other offenders.  They're able to talk 
16      to each other by yelling through the cells or using the 
17      toilet system.  That's another story.  
18           And so, again, besides the escorting, which is a big 
19      part of what staff do in maximum custody, they also search 
20      the offenders' cells which have very little in them so the 
21      searches go very quickly.  They have almost no personal 
22      property, so inventorying is a little duty, but it's not a 
23      significant duty.  
24           Part of it is to provide, again, supplies to the 
25      offender.  They feed all the offenders in the cells, so they 
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1      bring them all their meals to their cells.  

2           Unlike lesser securities where the offender -- lesser 

3      security levels where the offender has some ability to go do 

4      some things on their own, in maximum custody we do 

5      everything.  We provide offenders with everything.  So staff 

6      in maximum custody are busy.  There's no doubt about that.  

7      It's a very busy job.

8 Q    We also had some testimony about tower assignments.  Can you 

9      just briefly tell us what that means?

10 A    We have significantly reduced use of towers.  The trend will 

11      be, continue to move away from towers as we close our oldest 

12      facilities.  But for now, we still have a few facilities 

13      that have some level of towers on the perimeter that provide 

14      part of perimeter security.  And in our newest facilities, 

15      at the very least, we will have some kind of armed presence 

16      over the recreation yard which, because of semantics, we now 

17      refer to that as the armed elevated recreation observation 

18      post.  

19           In our newest facility that we built at Coyote Ridge, 

20      we no longer even have a tower.  We have vehicle sally port 

21      manage the security in a different way.  The duties are to 

22      observe -- if they are a perimeter security tower, then 

23      they're watching that field of responsibility that they 

24      have, to make sure that no one's going over the wall, fence, 

25      would be the two types of perimeters.  
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1           And probably the most -- not probably.  Clearly the 
2      most significant responsibility of someone in that position 
3      is, they are armed and they have authorization to use lethal 
4      force, as appropriately described, escape to prevent loss 
5      of -- loss of life or significant bodily injury to another.
6 Q    One of our witnesses came and talked about his duties as a 
7      correction officer where he does transport.  Can you tell us 
8      a little bit about how that occurs?  
9 A    Many CO's around the state engage in transportation of 

10      offenders.  They take offenders back and forth to court, to 
11      hospitals, to -- typically to medical appointments or to 
12      funerals or deathbed visits.  Probably a few other examples, 
13      but those are the main ones.  
14           In the case of the officer that testified, if I 
15      remember correctly, he's part of the transportation unit for 
16      the Washington Corrections Center.  And that is full-time 
17      duty.  Those staff up at the Washington Corrections Center 
18      and staff at the Washington State Penitentiary spend every 
19      day moving offenders back and forth across the state.  So 
20      the duties include having a combination driver's license, a 
21      CDL, that allows them to operate that large bus, large 
22      busses.  We have a fleet of them.  They are armed positions 
23      so they carry firearms.  
24           And much like the tower officers, the roaming patrol 
25      staff, they have certain rules of engagement that they know 
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1      and can follow and are authorized to use lethal force, if 
2      necessary.  And their role is to pick up offenders from 
3      locations, other prisons, from some of our county jails, and 
4      safely transport them to other locations.  Often   through 
5      -- for the men, it's often through Shelton and through the 
6      WCC, the reception center.  
7           In the other direction, once they've been processed at 
8      the reception center, they've been assigned to a facility, 
9      their job is to get them to the facility.

10 Q    Will the inmates be restrained in any way?
11 A    They are restrained.  They're in what we described as full 
12      restraints.  They would have leg irons and they would also 
13      have waist restraints with cuffs on each side.
14 Q    Will there be another CO on the bus as well?
15 A    Typically, three high security transports.  There could be 
16      four.  There can also a chase car, if there was a -- felt 
17      there was high enough risk because of who was being 
18      transported.
19 Q    Dr. Best reported that in her survey there were, I think it 
20      was, seven CO's that reported having had guns -- threatened 
21      with guns on ten or more occasions.  Is that something     
22      you -- do you have any idea what that might be about?
23 A    It certainly stood out to me.  No.  What I can tell you is, 
24      I -- my 32 years, I can recall no incident where an offender 
25      had access to and threatened staff with a weapon, with a 
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1      gun.  
2           And I cannot recall any situations where staff 
3      threatened other staff with a weapon at the facility.  And 
4      then you can hear the hesitation in my voice.  There have 
5      been some allegations over the years that staff in armed 
6      positions -- tower, roving patrol -- have confronted staff 
7      with their weapon.  
8           Specifics of those cases were -- there was always some 
9      contention around that.  The one that I can think of in 

10      particular, the staff member said, I was doing my job.  I 
11      didn't know who that lieutenant was on the perimeter and so 
12      I challenged them.  So but coming back around, there's no 
13      incident that I can recall of staff being threatened with a 
14      weapon.
15 Q    Let's talk a little bit about overcrowding.  First, there 
16      was a picture in Dr. Best's presentation.  Do your prisons 
17      look anything like that?
18 A    No.  No, they don't.
19 Q    With regard to overcrowding, are there occasions where 
20      prisoners or inmates will sometimes sleep on the floor?
21 A    There have been.  Today we're not in that situation, but we 
22      have been in the past.
23 Q    When that does occur, is there a particular intake -- a 
24      place where that occurs more often than not?
25 A    Typically, for our system, it will occur at the -- either at 
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1      the reception center for the women or at the reception 

2      center for men at WCC.  And so what that reflects is, there 

3      will be additional mattresses placed in some of the cells, 

4      enough to accommodate whatever that overcrowding overflow, I 

5      would call the number, is, but it is a very transitory 

6      population.  

7           The goal is that they are moving from that mattress on 

8      the floor to an empty bunk as quickly as possible.  

9      Typically, it's about seven days, but it can kind of depend 

10      on the -- what the -- there's an ebb and a flow to how the 

11      reception center works.  You can go weeks where it's very 

12      light and then suddenly every county in the state decides to 

13      clear out their beds and the population jumps up very high 

14      very quickly.

15 Q    Can you tell us a little bit about the -- is there any 

16      change that is occurring in the environment in prisons in 

17      the state of Washington?  Are newer facilities better than 

18      old facilities?

19 A    Yes, without question.  I wasn't sure which change you were 

20      thinking about.  So compared to the system that I came into 

21      in 1982, we are a very different system when it comes to 

22      prisons and physical plant.  We still operate a few old 

23      facilities.  We've changed custody levels in those -- two of 

24      those facilities.  I'm thinking of WSR and then the old main 

25      institution at the penitentiary so that we have a less -- a 
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1      lower custody offender in them.  

2           But the majority of our beds today have better natural 

3      light, better design, better sight lines, better heating, 

4      ventilation controls and systems.  Just everything about 

5      them, our most newest facilities, our newest designs that we 

6      built in the last now nine years -- how time flies -- 

7      provide an amazing amount of natural light and they're 

8      actually kind of open and airy, for a prison, given the fact 

9      it's still prison.

10 Q    We heard some testimony that there were times where a CO  

11      with less than one year of experience would be training a 

12      new CO.  Are you -- is that something that you --

13 A    I do remember that.  And I -- first thing it made me think 

14      of is, when I came to work, I was told, until you had a year 

15      in, you shouldn't have an opinion.  But if you had a year 

16      in, then you knew enough about the business.  The reality 

17      is, is today, by the time a CO has a year on the job, they 

18      have completed the correctional worker core and now you go 

19      online until you complete the correctional worker core.  

20           And then they've had, you know, somewhere around       

21      ten months of experience on the job.  So that is an adequate 

22      amount of time to gain some skill sets and some knowledge 

23      and some understanding.  It would be a value to that 

24      employee that just graduated from core yesterday and is 

25      getting some on-the-job experience.  



KLEIN (Scott Frakes, 8/25/14)                                   

Dixie Cattell & Associates (360) 352-2506

41 (Pages 872 to 875)

Page 872

1           Equally important is the fact there are also CO 2's 
2      which are the more senior, more established staff, but 
3      ideally better trained because at least they've gone through 
4      in-service training.  Maybe they've received some other 
5      training as well and they've got more tenure.  
6           And their role as CO 2's, the reason they make more 
7      money than CO 1's is because they're job coaches so they're 
8      there.  So it would be their duty and their responsibility, 
9      if they felt like that CO 1 with the year in, 11 months in, 

10      was not giving correct information, then they should step up 
11      and help guide as well.
12 Q    And I meant to ask this back when I talking about incidents:  
13      Is there a policy requiring that incidents get reported?
14 A    Yes, there is.  I believe it's 400.100, but don't ask me the 
15      title off the top of my head.  Reporting of incidents, I 
16      think.
17 Q    Mr. Frakes, I think you've testified you've been with the 
18      Department for 32 years now?
19 A    In about six more days.
20 Q    Are you proud of the Department?
21 A    I'm very proud of this department.
22 Q    Tell us why.  
23 A    Well, I'm proud of the Department, and I'm proud of the 
24      staff that work for DOC.  It is a difficult job.  It is 
25      challenging.  At times it's dangerous.  There's no question 
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1      that working in a prison carries risk.  It is a job that is 

2      not well understood by most of the public.  And so having 

3      said all of that, we do work that is critical to public 

4      safety.  I don't -- certainly didn't understand that when I 

5      started 32 years ago.  

6           I was probably about five years in before I began to 

7      recognize that we had a role in public safety.  Part of that 

8      was driven by the fact that, in the early '80s, we were 

9      still under that nothing works mantra that had come out of 

10      the '70s.  

11           The warehousing of offenders was, in general, the trend 

12      in corrections in America, and unfortunately Washington DOC 

13      was part of that.  We had a very difficult time in the '70s.  

14      It was incredibly dangerous.  When I started in '82, there 

15      had been three staff killed at the penitentiary in the past 

16      12 years, many other staff that were seriously injured.  

17           I still remember Sergeant Jim Hartford coming to our 

18      new employee orientation and holding up his hand that was 

19      missing three fingers, telling us about why you don't pick 

20      things up like a lighter and strike it because, if it 

21      doesn't look right, if it's out of place, you're not sure 

22      what it is, it's probably a bomb.

23           So I had the good fortune, though, to decide that I 

24      think -- that I thought I liked the work and I thought I had 

25      place in this business.  Then I had the even better fortune 
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1      to promote and go out to Olympic Corrections Center, go to a 

2      minimum custody facility.  

3           Even though it was 1987, I saw a very different world.  

4      I left an old penitentiary that was loud and dirty and 

5      crowded and just not a very pleasant place to work in the 

6      early '80s, and I went to a facility that was open and clean 

7      and filled with men that were typically about two years from 

8      release and actually had a glimmer of hope and a belief that 

9      there was something more, staff that saw them as people as 

10      opposed to just a bunch of criminals.

11           And what I saw happening there was, the work that I 

12      think was foundational to work and expanded in the '90s, 

13      continued to expand through the last decade, and now today 

14      is really our commitment to provide meaningful education, 

15      meaningful offender change opportunities, use evidence- 

16      based practices.  

17           And for the 95 to 97 percent of the men and women that 

18      we house in our system that we know are going back to our 

19      communities, to hopefully give them more tools to make them 

20      a little bit better when they leave.  So it's for all those 

21      reasons.  

22           I see staff that -- again, when I started, we were 

23      range 36.  The minimal qualifications for CO were pretty 

24      minimal.  Those qualifications continued to grow over the 

25      years.  The training we provided to our staff continued to 
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1      grow over the years.  The expectations we have for those 

2      staff have continued to grow over the years.  

3           Today CO's are range 43, so there's been some level of 

4      acknowledgement that the job is more important, more 

5      significant, and deserves a higher level of compensation.  I 

6      think I've said about what I need to say about that.  

7      It's --

8 Q    Come from a family that's been involved in corrections?

9 A    I do.  I have an uncle who retired about eight years ago 

10      that was -- worked in our prison system for 25 years.  My 

11      mother was a correctional officer at the penitentiary for 

12      ten years before she finally picked a good husband and went 

13      off to travel the country for the next ten years and have a 

14      great life, but she will tell you she loved the job, loved 

15      the work, and was a much better CO than I ever was.  

16           And I have a wife who has been with the Department 

17      since 1988, has worked at nine different prisons, has worked 

18      in the field, has worked briefly for Health Services, has 

19      worked for headquarters for the last two years, and includes 

20      about ten years as an officer and a sergeant during that 

21      career.  

22           And then on top of that, having worked all over the 

23      state, worked in six different prisons, bounced back and 

24      forth to several of them more than once, I have friends in 

25      this business from line-level represented staff to 
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1      executive-level managers.  I rely on all those people to 

2      help give me a broader perspective about what's the work, 

3      what's the value of the work, what do we need to focus on.  

4 Q    Two short last questions and then I'll let you go.  First, 

5      do you keep stats in terms -- or look at stats comparing 

6      violence and rate of injuries in the DOC system as compared 

7      to other prisons across the country?

8 A    We do look.  It's still difficult today to get a good apple 

9      and apples comparison.  People measure things differently.  

10      They describe things differently.  Their infractions are 

11      written differently, the violations that offenders commit.  

12           So one of the missions or charges that the American -- 

13      I can't remember exactly what it stands for.  Anyway, it's 

14      the association that represents secretaries and 

15      commissioners and directors of prison systems across 

16      America.  It's called ASKA, but the words aren't coming to 

17      my head.  But ASKA made a commitment a couple years ago to 

18      try and create a dashboard, to try and create consistent set 

19      of standards and then get all of the corrections systems 

20      across the country to start reporting information in the 

21      same way.  

22           It's a project that's still under way.  They're making 

23      some headway.  So we look out at numbers and we try to make 

24      comparisons.  Our sense is that we're on the lower end when 

25      it comes to violence in our prison system, but I'm not -- I 
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1      don't have a document to lay on the table and tell you that 
2      I know that we're best.
3 Q    And even if you're best, if there are incidents, that's too 
4      many?
5 A    One is too many.
6                MR. KLEIN:  I have nothing further.  Thank you.  
7                ARBITRATOR:  Want a minute?  Ready to go?  
8                MR. THAL:  Take a break.
9                ARBITRATOR:  Off the record.

10                                     (Recessed at 4:29 p.m.)
11                                     (Reconvened at 4:36 p.m.)
12                ARBITRATOR:  Back on the record to memorialize the 
13      parties' agreement that we're not going to get done today.  
14      We're going to recess and start tomorrow at nine o'clock and 
15      turn to cross-examination at that time, followed by the 
16      Union's case and surrebuttal.  We're in recess.
17                                     (Recessed at 4:37 p.m.)
18                                    
19                                    
20                                    
21                                    
22                                    
23                                    
24                                    
25                                    
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